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Foreword

On behalf of the New Silk Road Forum (www.nsrforum.com), we thank 

Ashurst LLP's tax department for producing this New Silk Road Guide to Corporate 

Tax Essentials and for Ashurst's ongoing support. We hope that this publication 

will provide a useful reference for key corporation tax rates, special mining, oil 

and gas tax regimes, the withholding tax treatment of payments to both residents 

and non-residents and the nexus for being subject to corporation tax in countries 

in the region.

Countries covered by the guide include Afghanistan, Armenia, Azerbaijan, 

Bahrain, China, Federal Iraq, Georgia, India, Iran, Israel, Jordan, 

Kazakhstan, Kuwait, Kyrgyzstan, Lebanon, Mongolia, Oman, Pakistan, 

People's Republic of China, Qatar, Russian Federation, Saudi Arabia, Syria, 

Tajikistan, Turkey, Turkmenistan, United Arab Emirates, Ukraine and

Uzbekistan.

We would welcome your feedback and ask that should you wish to be involved in 

NSR Forum's Tax and Accounting Working Group, or participate in future events, 

please contact Abradat Kamalpour or visit www.nsrforum.com

Lord Waverley
Chairman
New Silk Road Forum

Abradat Kamalpour
CEO and Founder
New Silk Road Forum
T: +44(0)20 7859 1578
E: abradat.kamalpour@ashurst.com



Introduction

This booklet provides a concise summary of some of the main corporation and 

indirect tax features of the countries along the New Silk Road. The taxation of 

permanent establishments is beyond the scope of this booklet and for these 

purposes it is assumed that any foreign entity does not have a permanent 

establishment in a New Silk Road jurisdiction.

The contents have been obtained from publicly available information as of 1 June 

2013 including the websites of relevant tax authorities and other public bodies 

(and details of these websites are included). The contents have not been verified 

by local tax advisers.  The booklet is therefore written generally, does not cover 

all tax aspects, does not constitute tax advice and the contents should not be 

relied upon.  

No representation is given as to the accuracy of the information contained in this 

booklet and Ashurst does not accept any liability for the consequences of any 

actions taken on the basis of this information. We recommend that each person 

seeks their own professional advice in relation to their own particular 

circumstances.

For further information on Ashurst's tax practice, please contact Richard Palmer 

below or visit www.ashurst.com

Richard Palmer, Partner and Head of Tax
T: +44 (0)20 7859 1289
E: richard.palmer@ashurst.com
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Tax Liability:
Afghanistan residents are taxable on their worldwide 
income. 

Non-residents are taxable on Afghan-source income.

Resident: A corporate entity which has its centre of 
administrative management in Afghanistan.

Taxable Entities:
Corporations and Limited Liability Companies.  

A partnership is not a taxable entity.

Corporate Tax Rates:
20%.

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 

and gas?

There are separate rules for the extractive industries.  

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 
Companies:

Dividends:  20%.

Royalties:  20%.

Interest:  20%.

Any other (e.g. service fees):  

Withholding tax of 20% applies to bonuses, service 
charges and other payments.

Withholding tax of 10% applies to payments of rent 
between AFA 10,000 and AFA 100,000 and 
withholding tax of 15% applies to payments of rent 
above AFA 10,000.

Payments to Non-
See Payments to Resident Companies above.
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Resident Companies:

Is the jurisdiction 

party to any income 
and capital double 
taxation treaties?

No.

Group Treatment:
Unavailable.

Losses:
Losses can be carried forward for 3 years and one 
third of the loss can be deducted from taxable income 
each year.

Employment Taxes:
There is no social security regime.

Employers are responsible for withholding taxes from 
employees on a monthly basis.  

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
No information.

Transfer Taxes:
No information.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Business receipts tax of 2%-10% on various persons 
who provide goods or services.

Are there any 
local/municipal 

taxes?

No information.

General Anti-

Avoidance Rule?
There is an arm's length concept between connected 
persons.

Participation 
Exemption?

No information.

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

No information.

CFC Legislation?
No information.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 
foreign companies:

No information.

Details of the local 
Afghanistan Revenue Department website -
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tax 
authority/authorising 

revenue collection 
agency:

http://www.ard.gov.af/

Useful websites:
Ministry of Finance website - http://mof.gov.af/en



The New Silk Road Guide to Corporate Tax Essentials

Page 4

Tax Liability: Armenian residents are taxable on their worldwide 
income.

Non-residents are taxable on their Armenian source 
income.  

Resident: legal entities and business entities 
(including those without legal personality) established 

(i.e. registered) in Armenia.  

Non-resident: entities established outside Armenia.

Taxable Entities: Armenian established resident companies and 
partnerships.  

Non-resident companies conducting business in 
Armenia through a branch or representative office.

Corporate Tax Rates: 20%.

Investment funds pay corporate income tax based on 
0.01% of their net assets.

Any special tax 

regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

No.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 

Companies:

Payments made to resident companies are not 

subject to withholding tax

Payments to Non-

Resident Companies:

Dividends: on payments to non-resident companies.

Royalties: 0% on payments to non-resident 
companies.

Interest: 10% on payments to non-resident 
companies.

Any other (e.g. service fees):  

Insurance fees and freight payments are subject to a 
5% withholding tax. 
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10% withholding tax is levied on rents, capital gains 
and any other income from Armenian sources.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 
and capital double 

taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment: No information.

Losses: Ordinary losses may be carried forward for 5 years. 
Losses derived from mergers, acquisitions and other 

transformations of a legal entity may not be carried 
forward. 

No carry-back of losses is permitted. 

Capital losses on fixed business assets are deductible 

from ordinary business income.

Employment Taxes: No payroll tax.

Employees make social security contributions of 3% 
of gross salary up to AMD 2 million and 8% 

thereafter.

Employers make social security contributions at the 

following rates:

Gross Salary (AMD 

per month)

Contribution

Up to AMD 20,000 AMD 7,000

AMD 20,000 to AMD 
100,000

AMD 7,000 plus 15% of 
the amount exceeding 

AMD 20,000

AMD 100,000 upwards AMD 19,000 plus 5% of 

the amount exceeding 
AMD 100,000

VAT/Turnover Taxes: Standard rate: 20%.  

Transfer Taxes: No.

Miscellaneous Taxes: No.

Are there any 

local/municipal 
taxes?

Land tax is assessed and collected at municipal level.  

Property tax is assessed and collected at municipal 
level on buildings, motor vehicles and means of water 
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transport.  

General Anti-

Avoidance Rule?

There are transfer pricing provisions and limitations 

on the deductibility of interest payments.

Participation 
Exemption?

Yes – for dividends paid between Armenian resident 
companies.

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

No.

CFC Legislation? No.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 

foreign companies:

No.

Details of the local 

tax 
authority/authorising 
revenue collection 

agency:

Unavailable.

Useful websites: Armenia Ministry of Finance official website -

http://www.minfin.am/main.php?lang=2 
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Tax Liability: Azerbaijan resident enterprises are taxable on their 
worldwide income.

Non-residents are taxable on Azerbaijan source 
income.

Resident: Any legal entity established in accordance 
with the law of Azerbaijan and either involved in 

entrepreneurial business activities in Azerbaijan or 
with its place of management in Azerbaijan.

Taxable Entities: Legal entities established under the law of Azerbaijan
(including general and limited partnerships and 
limited liability companies); branches, divisions or 

other separate units of legal entities established 
under the law of Azerbaijan which have their own 
balance sheet, separate ledgers or other accounts; 

and the branches and representative offices of legal 
entities established under the law of a foreign state.

Corporate Tax Rates:
20%.

Reduced/simplified tax system for small enterprises.

Additional/separate tax regime in Nakhchivan 
autonomous region.

Simplified tax of 4% in Baku and 2% in other 
regions.

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 

and gas?

Companies operating in the oil and gas sector are 
governed mainly by Production Sharing Agreements 
(PSAs) or Host Government Agreements (HGAs), 
which contain special tax protocols typically dealing 
with taxation of employees, value added tax and 
imports and exports.

There is a special incentivisation regime for oil and 
gas related projects for domestic and foreign 
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companies based in Azerbaijan conducting projects in 
other countries.

Withholding Taxes:

Payments to Resident 
Companies:

Dividends:  10%.

Royalties:  0%.

Interest:  10%. 

Rental:  14%.

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  10%. 

Royalties:  14%. 

Interest:  10%. 

Rental:  14%.

Payments for insurance and reinsurance services 
provided by a non-resident:  4%.

Payments for telecommunication and international 
transport services provided by a non-resident:  6%.

Payment for services provided by a non-resident:  
10%.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 
and capital double 

taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Ordinary losses may be carried forward for five years.  

A capital loss may be offset against profit.

No carry back of losses is permitted.

Employment Taxes:
No payroll tax.
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Social security contributions of 25% are made 
comprising 22% paid by the employer and 3% by the 
employee.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
Standard rate:  18%.

Transfer Taxes:
No.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Customs and excise duties; property tax and land 
tax.

Are there any 
local/municipal 

taxes?

Royalties on construction materials of local 
importance.

General Anti-

Avoidance Rule?
No.  There is however an arm's length transfer 
pricing principle.  

Participation 
Exemption?

None.

Thin Capitalisation 

Rules?
No.

CFC Legislation?
Yes.  Triggered by a direct or indirect shareholding of 
more than 20% of the share capital or voting rights 
in a foreign legal entity that receives income from a 
low tax jurisdiction.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 
foreign companies:

No.

Details of the local 
tax 

authority/authorising 
revenue collection 
agency:

Ministry of Taxes.

Useful websites:
www.taxes.gov.az
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Tax Liability:
Any oil, gas or petroleum entity engaged in exploring, 
refining or producing oil in Bahrain will be taxable.

Taxable Entities:
Companies, partnerships and joint ventures operating 
in the oil sector.

Corporate Tax Rates:
46%.

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 

and gas?

See above.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 
Companies:

Dividends:  No.

Royalties:  No.

Interest:  No.

Any other (e.g. service fees): No.

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

See Payments to Resident Companies above.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 

and capital double 
taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Trading losses may be carried forward indefinitely.  

No carry back of losses is permitted.
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Employment Taxes:
No payroll taxes.

Social security contributions:

Employers: 12% for Bahrain employers; 3% for 
expatriate employees.

Employees: 7% for Bahrainis; 1% for expatriates.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
None although VAT may be introduced in future in 
the Gulf Cooperation Council ("GCC") Member States.

Transfer Taxes:
Stamp duty applies on the transfer of immoveable 
property as follows:

1.5% of property value for amounts of such value, up 
to BHD 70,000 (USD 185,500); 

2% of property value for amounts of such value, for 
amounts exceeding BHD 70,000 up to BHD 120,000 
(USD 318,000); and

3% of property value for amounts of such value, for 
amounts exceeding BHD 120,000.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Training levy imposed on companies with more than 
50 employees which do not provide training to their 
employees.  

12% Sales tax on gasoline.

5% tax on the use of hotel facilities. 

5% Customs duties (exemptions under trade 
agreements) on imports from outside the GCC 
customs union.

The Bahraini government is currently considering the 
introduction of a compulsory 2.5% tax on wealthy 
individuals and organisations ("Zakat").

Are there any 
local/municipal 
taxes?

Municipality tax on the rental of commercial property 
and residential property occupied by expatriates.  The 
rate depends on the nature of the property.
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General Anti-
Avoidance Rule?

No.

Participation 
Exemption?

No.

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

No.

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 

foreign companies:

No.

Details of the local 
tax 

authority/authorising 
revenue collection 
agency:

Ministry of Finance
Kingdom of Bahrain
Fax No: ++973 17535515/Tel No: ++973 17575699
competentauthority@mof.gov.bh

Useful websites:
www.mof.gov.bh
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This covers Federal Iraq other than the tax laws and practices of the Kurdistan 

Region.

Tax Liability:
Iraqi residents are taxable on their worldwide 
income.

Non-residents are taxable on Iraqi source income 
which "arises" as a result of doing business in Iraq.  
Examples of doing business in (rather than with) 
Iraq includes signing contracts, receiving payments 
and performing services. 

Resident:  incorporated under the laws of Iraq or 
have their place of management and control in Iraq.

Taxable Entities:
Corporations.

Corporate Tax Rates:
Generally 15%.

35% for oil and gas production and extraction 
activities and related industries.  

Note:  Within the Kurdistan Region, a flat rate of 
15% is applicable to all industries.  

Gains derived from the sale of shares and bonds not 
in the course of a trading activity are tax exempt.

Note:  On 7 May 2013, the Council of Ministers 
adopted a bill exempting Iraqi and foreign 
companies implementing investment projects from 
taxes and fees.  No further details are available as 
at 31 May 2013.

There are free zones and tax holidays in relation to 
specific approved projects.

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 

35% corporate income tax rates apply to companies 
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and gas? operating in the oil and gas sector.  See also 
"Withholding Taxes" below.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 
Companies:

Dividends:  0%.

Royalties:  0%.

Interest:  0%. 

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  0%.

Royalties:  15%. 

Interest:  15%.

Withholding tax at up to 10% may be levied on 
payments to non-residents under contracts which 
are considered to be "trading in" Iraq.  Such 
payments falling within the oil and gas tax law 
should be subject to withholding tax at a rate of 7%.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 

and capital double 
taxation treaties?

Yes.  Less than 10 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
A tax loss from one source of income may offset 
profits from other sources of income in the same tax 
year.  

Unused tax losses may be carried forward and 
deducted from taxable income of the tax-payer for a
maximum of five consecutive years, provided that 
no more than half of any year's taxable income can 
be offset and any loss carried forward is only 
deducted from the same source of income from
which it is being offset.

Employment Taxes:
Employers are required to operate payroll and tax is 
levied at progressive rates up to 15%.
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Social security contributions are imposed on salaries 
and benefits at the following rates:

(a) employer (general): 12%;

(b) employer (oil and gas sector or foreign 
company): 25%;

(c) employee: 5% deduction from salary.

A portion of the employee allowances up to an 
amount equal to 30% of the base salary is not 
subject to social security contributions.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
There is conflicting information as to whether this is 
10% or there is no VAT.

Transfer Taxes:
There is a de minimis stamp duty on specific 
procedures and documents and 0.2% stamp duty on 
contracts of fixed value.

Transfer tax applies at rates of 0-6% on the transfer 
of land.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Property tax is imposed on the annual rent from 
buildings and land at rates of 9% and 2% 
respectively. 

Are there any 
local/municipal 

taxes?

No.

General Anti-

Avoidance Rule?
No.  

Note, whilst there are currently no specific transfer 
pricing guidelines, the Iraq tax authorities reserve 
the right to adjust the taxable profits of an entity if 
they consider the amounts recorded to be 
unreasonable.

Participation 
Exemption?

No.  However, there is no tax on inbound dividends
which are paid out of profits which have been taxed 
in Iraq.
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Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

None.  

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 

foreign companies:

No.

Details of the local tax 

authority/authorising 
revenue collection 
agency:

Federal Iraq:  General Commission of Taxation.

Kurdistan Region:  Income Tax Directorate.

Useful websites:
Ministry of Finance:  http://www.mof.gov.iq/
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Tax Liability:
Georgian residents are taxable on their worldwide 
income.

Non-resident companies are taxable on:

(a) property or land located in Georgia;

(b) the sale of shares in companies whose assets 
constitute more than 50% immovable property in 
Georgia (whether directly or indirectly); and

(c) Georgian source income.

Resident: A company/taxable legal entity with its 
state registration or place of effective management in 
Georgia. 

Taxable Entities:
All legal entities that are tax resident in Georgia, 
including limited liability companies, joint stock 
companies, limited partnerships and general 
partnerships.

Other partnerships, e.g. simple partnerships and 
silent partnerships, are tax transparent.

Corporate Tax Rates:
15%.

Any special tax 

regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

A special 10% corporate income tax rate applies to 
income derived from certain activities that fall under 
the law governing the exploration for, and 
exploitation of, oil and gas resources, if the 
agreements to engage in these activities were signed 
before 1 January 1998.

Withholding taxes:
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Payments to Resident 
Companies:

Dividends:  0%.

Royalties:  0%.

Interest:  5%.  This will be reduced to 0% from 2014 
onwards.  0% on interest received by resident 
companies from financial institutions.  

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  3%.  This will be reduced to 0% from 
2014 onwards.

Royalties:  10% or 15%.  The definition of royalties 
includes payments for the right to extract natural 
resources and income from rendering technical 
assistance in connection with royalty-generating 
items.

Interest:  5%.  This will be reduced to 0% from 2014 
onwards.  Note: If a non-resident is registered in an 
offshore or low tax jurisdiction, this may be 15%.

10% withholding tax on payments for international 
telecommunications services and international 
transportation services to non-residents with a 
permanent establishment in Georgia.  

4% withholding tax on income received by non-
resident subcontractors engaged in the exploration 
for, or exploitation of, oil and gas resources.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 
and capital double 

taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Dividends are not included in the taxable income of 
Georgian enterprises for corporate income tax 
purposes. 

Losses:
Business and capital losses may be carried forward 
for up to five years. However, no loss carry-forward 
is allowed for International Financial Companies, Free 
Industrial Zone Entities, Special Trading Companies 
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and International Enterprises. 

Tax payers can apply to the tax authorities to extend 
the carry-forward period to ten years. 

No carry back of losses is permitted.

Employment Taxes:
No payroll tax or social security contributions.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
Standard rate:  18%.

Transfer Taxes:
No.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Excise tax and import tax. 

Any activity that requires a licence for the use of 
natural resources owned by the state is subject to a 
fee.

Are there any 
local/municipal 
taxes?

Property tax is established by the local authorities.

Specific rates apply to land, depending on the 
location and fertility of the land.

Assets leased out by leasing companies are subject to 
property tax at an annual rate of 0.6% for the whole 
leasing period. The taxable base is the balance value 
of the leased asset at the time it was first leased out. 

Property used for the exploration for, or exploitation 
of, oil and gas resources is exempt from property tax.

General Anti-
Avoidance Rule?

No, but there are specific rules to prevent abusive 
practices.  There are also transfer pricing rules.

Participation 

Exemption?
No.

Thin Capitalisation 

Rules?
Yes.  Generally interest is not deductible where the 
debt equity ratio exceeds 3:1.  The rules do not apply 
to:

(a) financial institutions;

(b) an entity with gross income below GEL 200,000; 
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and

(c) an entity whose interest expense does not exceed 
20% of its taxable profit (before the deduction of 
interest expense).

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 

foreign companies:

No.

Details of the local 

tax 
authority/authorising 
revenue collection 

agency:

No information.

Useful websites:
None available.
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Tax Liability:
Indian residents are taxable on their worldwide 
income.

Non–residents are taxable on Indian-source income, 
income from a business connection with India or 
from an Indian permanent establishment.  Gains 
derived by a non-resident from the alienation of 
Indian situs assets are also taxable.

Resident: A company incorporated in India or which 
has its entire control and management in India. 
Note: A company incorporated outside India may 
also be regarded as resident if the company has 
made certain arrangements for the declaration and 
payment of dividends in India.

Taxable Entities:
Corporate tax is imposed on companies.  Companies 
are classified as:

(a) Indian companies, i.e. companies formed and 
registered under Indian law and registered in India, 
and any institutions, associations or bodies declared 
by the Central Board of Direct Taxes ("CBDT") to be 
companies with their registered or principal office in 
India;

(b) bodies corporate incorporated outside India; and

(c) institutions, associations or bodies, whether or 
not incorporated or Indian, declared by the CBDT to 
be companies.

A partnership is a separate taxable person.

Corporate Tax Rates:
Residents are taxed at 30% (plus applicable 
surcharge of 5% if the net income exceeds INR 10M 
and plus education cesses).  
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Non-residents and branches of non-residents are 
taxed at 40% (plus applicable surcharge of 2% if the 
net income exceeds INR 10 million and plus 
education cesses).

Dividends received from foreign subsidiaries are
taxed at 15%.

India has a Minimum Alternative Tax ("MAT") which 
applies to companies if the tax payable by the 
company on its total income is less than a certain 
percentage of its book profits.  An LLP may also be 
liable to MAT at 19.06% in some situations.

Capital gains are taxed separately and at varying 
rates depending upon whether they are long or short 
term capital gains and dividends may be taxed at 
the corporation tax rate, a reduced rate of 15% or 
may be exempt, although a surcharge or cess is still 
imposed.  

India also has some special economic zones which 
are exempt from tax, and tax holidays are available 
for certain industries in some regions.

Exempt income includes domestic dividends if the 
payer has paid dividend distribution tax, certain 
agricultural income and certain income of charitable 
or religious institutions, trusts and foundations, 
depending upon how the income is applied.  

Any special tax 

regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

A deemed tax of 10% of payments is levied on 
payments for prospecting or extracting mineral oil 
by non-residents.  

A deduction may be available for capital expenditure 
incurred in laying and operating cross-country 
natural gas or crude or petroleum oil pipeline 
networks for distribution.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 

Companies:
Dividends:  20% on deemed dividends.  Dividends 
paid by resident companies are exempt provided the 
distributing company has paid dividend distribution 
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tax at the rate of 15% (plus applicable surcharge 
and education cesses).

Royalties:  10%.

Interest:  10%.

Technical Service Fees and commission on 
brokerage fees, and rental income land, building or 
furniture:  10/25%.

Insurance Commissions:  20%.

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  0%.  However, there is a dividend 
distribution tax of 15%  (plus surcharge and 
cesses).  

Royalties:  10% (plus applicable surcharge and 
education cesses).  This may become 20% if the 
non-resident does not have a tax registration 
number.

Interest:  There are various withholding tax rates 
applying to different sorts of interest.  The general 
rate of withholding tax is 20% (plus surcharges and 
cesses).  This may be reduced to 5% on an 
infrastructure debt fund.

10% withholding tax plus surcharges and cesses on 
technical service fees payable to non-residents, 
although this is likely to be increased to 25%.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 
and capital double 

taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.  However, transfers from a head company to a 
subsidiary may  be exempt from capital gains tax.

Losses:
Losses must first be set off against income of the 
same type and then may be set against income of 
any other type for the same year.  

Unutilised losses can only be carried forward if they 
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are business or capital losses.

Unabsorbed business losses and capital losses can 
be carried forward eight years and set off against 
business income although there are ownership rules 
which must be satisfied in some circumstances.  

There are different rules for how short term and long 
term capital losses may be used.

Speculative losses may only be set off against 
profits of other speculative businesses in the current 
or the following four years.

Business losses and unutilised depreciation can be 
transferred to an amalgamated company, subject to 
a number of conditions.

No carry back of losses is permitted.

Employment Taxes:
Payroll tax: the employer is responsible for 
withholding tax on salary income.

Employers with at least ten employees are required 
to contribute 12% of gross salaries to the Employees 
Provident Fund (EPF) together with an 
administrative charge of 1.1% of the employee’s 
salary.  Employers must also contribute to the 
Employees Deposit-Linked Insurance Scheme.

Employers of industrial workers are also required to 
contribute 4.75% of gross salary to Employees State 
Insurance Group.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
The VAT standard rate varies between states.

Central Sales Tax ("CST") is levied on sales involving 
inter-state movement of goods at the rate of 2% or 
10% or the prevailing state rate, whichever is 
higher.  There is an attempt to replace CST with 
national VAT.

Transfer Taxes:
Excise duty is levied on the manufacture and 
production of goods within India. The general excise 
duty rate is 12%.  
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Service tax is levied on the gross amount charged 
for the provision of specified services at an effective 
rate of 12.36%. 

Customs duty is levied on the import and export of 
certain goods. The median rate of customs duty is 
7.5% for capital goods and 10% for other goods.  

Some states levy entry tax on entry of specified 
goods.

There is a state sales tax system.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Securities transaction tax applies to the purchase 
and sale of shares on a recognised stock exchange 
in India at rates ranging from 0.025% to 0.25%.

Financial instruments, transfers of real property and 
other assets may be subject to stamp duty.  The 
rates vary from state to state.

There are various land taxes and cesses.

Are there any 

local/municipal 
taxes?

Transfers of immovable property may be subject to 
local tax.

Owners of real estate may be subject to a state real 
estate tax or duty.  

1% wealth tax is levied on the aggregate value of 
specified assets in excess of INR 3,000,000. 

See dividend distribution tax above.

General Anti-
Avoidance Rule?

India levies several taxes at state level.  The most 
salient of these are set out below.

Participation 
Exemption?

Yes.  A general anti-avoidance rule ("GAAR") applies 
to "impermissible avoidance arrangements" entered 
into by a taxpayer.  An "impermissible avoidance 
arrangement" is any step or part of an arrangement 
which is undertaken with the main purpose of 
obtaining a tax benefit and that: 

(a) creates rights or obligations which would not be 
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created if the transaction was implemented at arm’s 
length;

(b) results in, directly or indirectly, misuse of the 
provisions of the ITA; 

(c) lacks "commercial substance" in whole or in part; 
or 

(d) is implemented by means that would not 
normally be adopted for "bona fide" purposes.

India also has particularly stringent transfer pricing 
rules whereby if an adjustment is made to a 
taxpayer enjoying a tax holiday, the benefit of the 
tax holiday is denied to the extent of the adjustment 
and dealings between associated enterprises (or 
deemed associated enterprises) must follow the 
arm's length principle.  Transfer pricing rules may 
also have an extra-territorial impact.

India has a number of specific anti-avoidance 
measures and takes a substance over form approach 
to the analysis of transactions.  

See also withholding above.

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

No.

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 

foreign companies:

No.

Details of the local tax 

authority/authorising 
revenue collection 
agency:

All cross-border transactions with non-residents are
subject to foreign-exchange controls contained in 
the Foreign Exchange Management Act. 

Non-residents with a liaison office in India must 
make certain filings with the tax officer.

Useful websites:
Indian Revenue Service Authority.

Central Board of Direct Taxes.
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Indian Revenue Service Authority website:
http://www.irsofficersonline.gov.in/

Ministry of Finance website: http://finmin.nic.in/

Full foreign investment is permitted in most sectors of industry.
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Tax Liability:
Iranian resident entities are taxable on their 
worldwide income.  

Non-resident entities are taxable on Iranian source 
income.

Resident: Entities established under the Commerce 
Act of Iran, including registered branches and 
representative offices of foreign companies. 

Taxable Entities:
All Iranian legal entities other than partnerships.  

Registered branches and representative offices of 
foreign companies.

Corporate Tax Rates:
Standard rate of tax:  25%.

22.5% for corporates quoted on the Stock Exchange 
and Commodity Exchange.  

Certain corporates whose shares are accepted for 
over-the-counter trading are taxed at 23.75%.

Certain taxpayers are subject to a special defence 
contribution ranging between 5% to 7.5% on 
dividends, interest, royalties, licences and rent.  

There are six free-trade zones ("FTZs") in Iran: 

(a) Kish Island; 

(b) Qeshm Island;

(c) Chabahar; 

(d) Abadan and Khorramshahr;



The New Silk Road Guide to Corporate Tax Essentials

Page 29

(e) Bandar Anzali; and

(f) Jolfa

Companies that are registered and licensed to 
operate in any of these FTZs are exempt from 
corporate tax for 20 years on income derived from 
their activity in the FTZ.  Income derived from 
operations carried out outside the FTZ is taxable. 

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 

and gas?

An exemption is granted to manufacturing and 
mining companies to which exploitation licences 
have been issued or with whom extraction and sale 
contracts have been concluded after 21 March 2002 
by the relevant government ministry.

The tax exemption applies to 80% of the income 
and is granted for a period of 4 years – if the 
operations are carried out outside a perimeter of 
120 km of Tehran, 50 km of Isfahan, or 30 km of 
provincial capitals or cities with a population of more 
than 300,000 (except for industrial cities) – starting 
from the date on which the exploitation or extraction 
commenced.

For units situated in less-developed regions, the 
exemption is granted for a term of 20 years. 

Profits derived from industrial and mining activities, 
allocated for the purpose of reconstruction, 
development, or completion of their existing 
industrial and mining units, or for establishing new 
industrial and mining units, shall be exempt for 65% 
of the applicable tax, provided that the permission 
for such development, completion, or establishment 
of industrial and mining units is obtained from the
relevant ministry. 

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 
Companies:

Dividends:  0%.

Royalties:  0%.

Interest: 0% on interest and fees paid to Iranian 



The New Silk Road Guide to Corporate Tax Essentials

Page 30

banking, cooperative funds and authorised non-bank 
credit institutions or Government bonds.

Companies must withhold 5% tax from payments to 
technical service providers and withhold tax on any 
rental payments.  

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends: 0%.

Royalties:  Royalties paid to non-residents are 
subject to a final withholding tax of 5% or 7.5%, 
depending upon what the royalties relate to.

Interest:  5% or 0% on government bonds.

Companies must withhold 5% tax from payments to 
technical service providers, management fees and 
under procurement contracts.  Companies must 
withhold tax on any rental payments.  

Non-residents providing services inside or outside 
Iran are also subject to withholding tax.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 
and capital double 

taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Ordinary tax losses approved by the Tax Office can 
be carried forward and set off against taxable 
income of subsequent years indefinitely.

No carry back of losses is permitted.

No capital losses arising from transfers of real 
property may be claimed.

Employment Taxes:
There is a PAYE system and employers are required 
to withhold personal tax on the salaries of 
employees at progressive rates up to 35%.

Employers must make social insurance contributions 
amounting to 23% or 20% of gross salary for 
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Iranian and expatriate employees respectively. 

Employees are required to make social security 
contributions of 7% of gross salary up to a cap.

There is also a 3% compulsory accident insurance 
contribution.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
The standard rate is 6% and shall increase at a rate 
of 1% per annum until 2015 to 8%.

VAT is levied at rates of 12% and 20% on tobacco 
products and petrol, respectively.

Customs duty is imposed on all goods imported into 
Iran on an ad valorem basis.

Transfer Taxes:
The final transfer of real estate properties as well as 
the transfer of goodwill are subject to transfer tax. 
In the case of real estate, the basis of taxation is 
5% of the taxable value as estimated by the Iranian 
National Tax administration and the basis of taxation 
is 2% of the value received by the owner or 
possessor of goodwill.

The final transfer of newly constructed real estate 
property attracts tax at 10% of the taxable value.

Sales of shares of listed companies are subject to 
tax at a flat rate of 0.5%.  All other share transfers 
related to shares are subject to tax at 4% of the 
face value of the transaction.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Any gain derived form the transfer of real estate is 
taxed at a rate of 5% of the rateable value of the 
property.

Capital duty is payable on the issue of stock, 
partnership shares, authorised share capital and 
share issues at 0.2%.

Are there any 

local/municipal 
taxes?

Tax is imposed annually on the governmental value 
of immovable property.

General Anti-
Whilst there is a general anti-avoidance provision



The New Silk Road Guide to Corporate Tax Essentials

Page 32

Avoidance Rule? under which any artificial/fictitious transaction may 
be disregarded, there are no detailed anti-avoidance 
measures.  There is also a transfer pricing concept 
which requires transactions between related parties
to be carried out at market value and on normal
commercial terms.

Participation 
Exemption?

No, although dividends received from companies 
registered in Iran are exempt from corporation tax.  
Dividend receipts from non-resident companies may 
be exempt. 

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

No, although only interest on certain shareholder 
loans is deductible.

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 

doing business with 
foreign companies:

Foreign companies should be registered in Iran prior 
to carrying out any activity in Iran.

Details of the local tax 
authority/authorising 
revenue collection 

agency:

Iranian National Tax administration (INTA).

Useful websites:
INTA website: 
http://en.intamedia.ir/pages/default.aspx
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Tax Liability:
Israeli residents are taxable on their worldwide 
income.

Non-resident companies are taxable on Israeli source 
profits or income accrued and produced in Israel, and 
on capital gains realised from Israeli situs assets.
Israel also has the right to tax the transfer of 
qualifying assets in Israel between two non-resident 
companies.

Resident: a corporate organised under Israeli law or if 
its business is controlled and managed from Israel.

Taxable Entities:
Israeli and foreign companies are taxable (subject to 
the below).

Partnerships are generally tax transparent.

A family company (where all the shareholders are 
family members) is transparent and there is also the 
concept of a transparent company, although 
guidelines are still to be issued around their 
classification and creation.

Corporate Tax Rates:
25%. 

Israeli companies which are approved industrial 
enterprises are entitled to reduced tax rates and not 
for profit organisations may be tax exempt.

There is also a lower tax rate for certain industrial, 
technology and high technology enterprises.

Any special tax 

regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

Profits from oil and gas are subject to an effective 
rate ranging between 20%-50%.
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Withholding taxes:

Payments to 
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  0%.

Royalties:  20%.  However, if approval from the tax 
authority to pay a lower rate of withholding tax has 
not been obtained, or the book-keeping system of the 
company is not approved by the tax authority, 25%.

Interest:  25%.

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  rates range from 5%-30% depending 
upon the shareholder and the status of the 
distributing company.

Royalties:  25%.

Interest:  generally 25%, although certain interest 
payments are exempt from withholding tax.

Withholding taxes may be applied at a rate of 25% 
where there is a transfer of sums abroad to a foreign 
corporate recipient for purchases or services which 
Israel considers to be taxable income.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 
and capital double 

taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Losses from a trade, business or vocation may be set 
off in the year which they arise, against income from 
any source. The balance of those losses can be 
carried forward without time limitation to be offset 
against income from a business or vocation, and 
against any capital gain realised from a business or 
vocation or land appreciation but no other income.

Generally, capital losses may only be set off against 
capital gains realised by the taxpayer in the current 
year or in each consecutive tax year.

No carry back of losses is permitted.
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Employment Taxes:
No payroll tax other than in relation to not-for profit 
organisations and financial institutions in which case 
there is a 7.5% wages tax if the total salary costs 
exceed NIS 160,000 per annum.

Employers are responsible for withholding employees' 
national insurance contributions and remitting these 
together with the employer's contribution. 

The employer's contribution is based on the 
employee's monthly income and as of 1 January 
2012, these were:

Monthly income (NIS) Resident employees (%) Non-resident employees 
(%)

Up to 5,171 3.45 0.54

5,171 - 41,850 5.9 0.77

Over 41,850 0 0

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
Standard rate:  16%. 

Transfer Taxes:
Corporate purchasers of real estate must pay transfer 
tax on the purchase of Israeli real property at rates 
between 5% and 7%.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Import duty and purchase tax on certain imports or 
local industrial production.

Are there any 
local/municipal 

taxes?

No.

General Anti-

Avoidance Rule?
No.  However, there are various anti-avoidance 
clauses included within the legislation and tax 
inspectors may challenge/ignore artificial 
transactions.  Taxpayers are also required to report 
"aggressive tax planning" in their annual return.

Transfer pricing rules (based on OECD guidelines) 
apply to transactions between Israeli resident and 
related non-resident persons.  
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Participation 
Exemption?

Yes.  Available for Israeli tax resident holding 
companies which own at least 10% of the rights to 
the profits of a non-resident subsidiary when shares 
are held for at least twelve consecutive months, 
subject to satisfying various criteria including:

(a) the holding company not being a public company, 
financial institution or a family company;

(b) at least 75% of the subsidiary’s income, which 
should not have been accrued in Israel, being 
business income according to Israeli standards;

(c) conditions around the historical cost of the shares 
and sum of loans in the subsidiary; and

(d) where the subsidiary is tax resident and the tax 
rate is in its jurisdiction of tax residence.

Under this regime, various income streams of the 
holding company are exempt including:

(a) capital gains on sale of a qualifying investment; 
and

(b) dividends distributed after the first twelve
consecutive months of ownership.

Furthermore, dividends paid between resident 
companies are exempt in the hands of the recipient 
provided that they are paid out of profits which have 
been taxed in Israel by the distributing company.

There are additional rules around dividends paid by 
non-resident companies to connected resident 
companies.

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

No. 

CFC Legislation?
Yes.  

A CFC is a foreign entity which satisfies all of the 
following requirements:

(a) it is a body of persons (a group of human beings 
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incorporated or unincorporated, but not an 
individual); 

(b) it must not be tax resident in Israel; 

(c) one of the following requirements must be met:

(i) more than 50% of its means of control is held, 
directly or indirectly, by Israeli residents; 

(ii) more than 40% of one or more of its means of 
control is held by residents who, together with a 
relative of one or more of them, hold more than 50% 
in one or more of the means of control of the entity; 
or  

(iii) a resident has the right to change substantial 
managerial decisions;  

(iv) its shares (or any rights in it) are not registered 
for trade on the stock exchange or no more than 30% 
of the shares are registered for trade; and  

(v) either (1) most of its income during the tax year 
is passive income or (2) most of its profits during the 
tax year are derived from passive income.  

Under the rules, the CFC's undistributed profits, will 
be distributed to the Israeli resident treated as 
holding the qualifying means of control as a dividend 
during the tax year.

Passive income includes interest, royalties, dividends, 
rental fees and capital gains.  The passive income 
must be taxed at a rate lower than 20%.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 

foreign companies:

No.

Details of the local 

tax authority/

authorising revenue 

collection agency:

Ministry of Finance, Israel Tax Authority.

Useful websites:
www.ozar.mof.gov.il/ita2013/eng/mainpage.htm
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Tax Liability:
Jordanian residents are taxable on their worldwide 
income (most capital gains are not taxable).

Non residents are taxable on Jordanian source income
(most capital gains are not taxable).

Resident:

(a) incorporated or registered under the relevant 
Jordanian legislation with a centre or branch in 
Jordan which has control over its activities and carries 
on administration;

(b) place of effective management or primary 
management is in Jordan; or 

(c) more than 50% owned by the Jordanian 
government or any official or public institutions.

Non-resident: not registered in Jordan and not 
incorporated under Jordanian law.

Taxable Entities:
Resident companies (unless specifically exempt), 
public entities and state enterprises of an industrial or 
commercial nature.  

Exempt entities include public and official institutions, 
professional commissions, cooperative societies and
tax exempt companies established under Jordanian 
law, which derive income from activities undertaken 
outside Jordan.

Partnerships are not separate taxable persons.

Corporate Tax Rates:
Generally 14%.

24% for telecommunication companies, financial 
service companies (including exchange companies) 
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and financial intermediation companies, insurance 
companies and companies carrying on finance leasing 
activities.

30% for banks. 

Jordan also has several free trade zones which are 
administered by the Free Zones Corporation.

Jordan also exempts a wide range of income 
including:

(a) certain profits from stocks and dividends 
distributed by a resident to another resident;

(b) certain capital gains realised in Jordan;

(c) income derived from sources in Jordan from 
trading in stock, bonds, equity loans, treasury bonds, 
mutual investment funds, currencies and 
commodities, in addition to futures and options 
contracts related to the above-mentioned 
instruments, except when derived by banks, financial 
companies, financial intermediation and insurance 
companies and legal persons carrying on financial 
leasing activities;

(d) any income generated by banks and financial 
companies not operating in Jordan from banks 
operating in Jordan, such as deposit interest, 
commissions and gains on deposits from investment 
in interest-free banks and financial companies; and

(e) profit earned by re-insurance companies from 
insurance contracts concluded with insurance 
companies operating in Jordan.

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

No.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to 

Resident Companies:
Dividends:  0%.

Royalties:  8%.
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Interest:  5%.

5% on management and consultancy fees.

Payments to Non-

Resident Companies:
Royalties:  7%.

Interest:  7%.

7% on management and consultancy fees.

7% on service fees and management fees.

Non-resident companies with no permanent 
establishment in Jordan are subject to a final 
withholding tax on Jordanian-source income.

Is the jurisdiction 

party to any income 
and capital double 
taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Final losses arising from normal business activities of 
a company are deductible and any excess losses can 
be carried forward and set-off against taxable income 
in successive tax years.

Excess losses incurred from business activities 
outside Jordan may be carried forward to be deducted 
from foreign-source business profits.

No carry back of losses is permitted. 

Employment Taxes:
No payroll tax.

Social security contributions are paid by employers to 
the Social Security Corporation at the rate of 12.5% 
of the employee's gross salary. 

Employers must also remit an employee's social 
security contribution of 6.5%.  

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
The General Sales Tax ("GST") is 16%.
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Transfer Taxes:
Ad valorem stamp duty ranging from 0.3%-0.6% is 
levied on certain documents and deeds.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Corporate importers must pay 2% of the import value 
as an advance for corporate income tax purposes.

14% property tax levied on the estimated annual 
rental value of real estate.

Are there any 
local/municipal 
taxes?

No.

General Anti-
Avoidance Rule?

No.

Participation 
Exemption?

No.  However, dividends are not subject  to tax in 
Jordan.

Thin Capitalisation 

Rules?
Interest and murabaha paid by a company (other 
than banks, financial companies and financial leasing 
companies), is deductible provided that it does not 
exceed the following total debt to equity ratios: 

(a) 6:1 for the 2010 taxable year; 

(b) 5:1 for the 2011 taxable year; 

(c) 4:1 for the 2012 taxable year; and 

(d) 3:1 for the 2013 taxable year and beyond. 

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 

doing business with 
foreign companies:

For a foreign entity to operate for any period of time 
in Jordan, it must be established and registered with 
the tax authorities.

Details of the local 
tax 
authority/authorisin

g revenue collection 
agency:

Income Tax and Sales Tax Department.
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Useful websites:
www.mof.gov.jo



The New Silk Road Guide to Corporate Tax Essentials

Page 43

Tax Liability:
Resident companies are taxed on their worldwide 
income.  

Non resident companies are taxed on Kazakhstan-
source income and may also be taxed on income from 
the provision of certain services to a resident (e.g. 
legal, managerial, financial) and on gains realised 
from the disposal of certain property in Kazakhstan.

Resident: a legal entity established under Kazakhstan 
law, or which has its place of effective management 
or location of actual managerial authority in 
Kazakhstan.  "Place of effective management" means 
the place where the strategic decisions are made, 
rather than the daily management of the entity.

Taxable Entities:
All legal persons with taxable income including 
partnerships.  

Non-commercial organisations are exempt.

Corporate Tax Rates:
20% for residents.  

Kazakhstan source income derived by a non-resident 
with no permanent establishment in Kazakhstan is 
taxed at rates from 5% - 20%.

See below for surtax on the profits of subsurface 
users.

Companies whose main production asset is land are 
taxable at 10% on income derived from the direct 
utilisation of that land.

Enterprises incorporated and operating in special 
economic zones are exempt.

Capital gains realised from the disposal of certain 
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assets are exempt.

Any special tax 

regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

Oil, gas and mining companies in Kazakhstan are 
referred to as "subsurface users".

In addition to standard taxes, subsurface users are 
also subject to the following special payments and 
taxes:

1. Special Payments:

(a) Subscription bonus - one off fixed payment for 
the right to carry out subsurface use operations;

(b) Commercial discovery bonus - paid for each 
commercial discovery of useful minerals in the 
contract territory, or discovery during additional 
exploration of a field if the contract contains a right of 
production; and

(c) Compensation of historical costs - fixed payment 
for compensation of total costs incurred by the state 
for geological surveys of the contract territory and 
exploration of fields before the conclusion of the 
subsurface use contract.

2. Taxes:

(a) Tax on production of useful minerals - paid 
separately for each type of useful mineral, petroleum, 
underground water and therapeutic mud produced in 
Kazakhstan.  Ranges from 0.2-22% (on a progressive 
scale) on the value of useful minerals produced in the 
taxable period;

(b) Rent tax on export - payable on the export of 
crude oil and natural gas liquids for sale at a rate of 
between 3-32% on world prices per barrel of between 
$20-200 and above, and on coal at a rate of 2.1%;
and

(c) Excess profit tax - calculated and paid separately 
on the net income of each subsurface use contract for 
a reporting period.  The rate varies from 10-60%.

Withholding taxes:
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Payments to 
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  0%. 

Royalties:  0%.

Interest:  15% this is expected to be reduced to 10% 
on 1 January 2014.  

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  15%, although they can be exempt if 
certain conditions are satisfied relating to 
shareholder's status and period of ownership.

Royalties:  15%.

Interest:  15%.

15% withholding tax on technical service fees paid to 
a non-resident without a permanent establishment in 
Kazakhstan.  

20% withholding tax is levied on payments of 
interest, dividends, royalties and technical service 
fees made to a non-resident in a jurisdiction with a 
preferential tax regime (e.g. a tax haven).

All other income paid to a non-resident is subject to 
20% withholding tax.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 

and capital double 
taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No, except for some consortiums which have signed 
an agreement with the government.

Losses:
Operating losses (ie. losses from business activities) 
can generally be carried forward for up to 10 years.

There are special rules around losses arising on the 
sale of securities.

Capital losses which cannot be fully set off in the 
current year can be carried forward up to 10 years 
and set against any gain from disposal of the same 
assets.
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No carry back of losses is permitted. 

Employment Taxes:
Employers remit social tax at a rate of 11%.

Employer's are also responsible for withholding and 
remitting 10% income tax and pension fund 
contributions for employees.

Employers must pay 5% social security contributions 
based on an employee's gross salary (capped at ten 
times the monthly minimum wage).

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
The standard rate is 12%.  There are also customs 
and excise duties.

Transfer Taxes:
No.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Capital duty on formations and increase/expansion of 
capital.

Gaming tax is payable by legal entities providing 
casino and other similar better services.

There are a number of miscellaneous nominal 
payments, fees and levies.

Permanent establishments are liable to a branch 
profits tax at 15%.

Levy on various legal actions.

Are there any 
local/municipal 
taxes?

Property tax is payable by Kazakhstan legal entities 
and foreign entities with a permanent establishment, 
branch or representative office in Kazakhstan.  
Certain legal entities (such as state institutions and 
state owned enterprises, operating in a corrective 
sphere and certain assets (such as land subject to 
land tax (see below)) are exempt. The standard rate 
is 1.5% for legal entities.

Land tax is payable by all Kazakhstan legal entities 
and foreign entities with a permanent establishment, 
branch or representative office in Kazakhstan who 
own plots of land.  The amount of tax is determined 
on the basis of the area and quality of the land.  



The New Silk Road Guide to Corporate Tax Essentials

Page 47

Certain plots and entities are exempt from land tax.

General Anti-

Avoidance Rule?
No general anti avoidance legislation in Kazakhstan.  
However, there is an arm's length transfer pricing 
concept which applies to cross-border transactions.

Participation 
Exemption?

No.  However, dividend receipts (other than from risk 
investment funds) are effectively exempt.

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

Yes, in respect of interest paid to related parties and 
persons registered in tax haven jurisdictions.  The 
interest paid is deductible if the ratio of the average 
equity of the paying company throughout the current 
year to the total debt on which the interest is paid, 
multiplied by 6 (or 9 for financial institutions) is less 
than 1.

CFC Legislation?
CFC rules apply to residents with a 10% or more 
shareholding in a tax haven entity.  Tax haven 
jurisdictions are defined as those which have income 
tax rates of below 10%, or jurisdictions with certain 
confidentiality or secrecy laws.  These provisions do 
not apply to countries with which Kazakhstan has a 
tax treaty which contains exchange of information 
provisions.

Kazakhstan has a blacklist of countries in this regard.

Specific rules for 

doing business with 
foreign companies:

No.

Details of the local 

tax authority/

authorising revenue 

collection agency:

Tax Committee of the Ministry of Finance, territorial 
tax committees at the district, region, town and city 
levels.

Useful websites:
www.en.government.kz/structure/org/M13 - Ministry 
of Finance.
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Tax Liability:
Territorial. An entity (local or foreign) is taxable on 
all Kuwaiti sourced income derived from carrying on 
a trade or business in Kuwait.

A foreign body corporate is interpreted as an 
association formed and registered under the laws of 
any country with separate legal personality (though 
partnerships are included in this definition (see 
below)).

Taxable Entities:
No Kuwaiti entities or companies incorporated in a 
Gulf Cooperation Council State which are wholly 
owned by nationals of those States are taxable.

Foreign companies (including partnerships).  

Corporate Tax Rates:
15%.

There is a tax exemption for profits earned by 
entities from trading operations on the Kuwait Stock 
Exchange ("KSE") and for capital gains on the 
disposal of shares listed on the KSE.  There is also a 
tax exemption lasting between two and 10 years 
under the Foreign Direct Investment Law.

Any special tax 

regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

No.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 
Companies:

Dividends:  0%.

Royalties:  0%.

Interest:  0%.
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5% withholding tax on the total contract value or
each payment by all entities to a 
contractor/subcontractor until that 
contractor/subcontractor has presented a non-
objection letter.

Payments to Non-

Resident Companies:
Dividends:  15% on dividends distributed by fund 
managers, banks and corporate bodies.

Royalties:  0%.

Interest:  0%.

5% of the contract value between residents and non-
residents must be withheld by the resident until the 
non-resident presents a non-objection letter.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 
and capital double 

taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Losses (including capital losses) may be carried 
forward for three years.  Carry forward will be 
disallowed following certain corporate actions such as 
cessation of activity in Kuwait, liquidation or change 
of legal status, and merger with another entity.  

Losses from one activity can be set against profits 
from another in the same year.  

No carry back of losses is permitted.  

Employment Taxes:
Social security only applies to Kuwaiti employees.  
Social security: 11% (employers) and 7% 
(employees) of employee's salary.  

No payroll taxes.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
There is currently no VAT/sales tax in Kuwait, but the 
Gulf Co-operative Council ("GCC") is considering 
implementing a form of VAT across all GCC countries.  
It is thought that VAT may be implemented in Kuwait 
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in 2014.

Transfer Taxes:
No transfer taxes.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
All Kuwaiti Shareholding Companies ("KSCs") are 
obliged to contribute 1% of profits net of statutory 
reserve and loss offset to the Kuwait Foundation for 
the Advancement of Science.

All KSCs are obliged to contribute 1% of net profits 
(gross operating income less costs) as Zakat.

KSCs listed on the Kuwaiti Stock Exchange have to 
pay an annual 2.5% tax on net profits.

Kuwait is part of the GCC customs union which 
applies a common tariff of 5% on imports from 
outside the GCC area (subject to free trade 
arrangements).

Are there any 

local/municipal 
taxes?

No.

General Anti-

Avoidance Rule?
There is no general anti-avoidance rule but there are 
transfer pricing rules with respect to imported 
materials and equipment.

Participation 
Exemption?

No.

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

No. 

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 

foreign companies:

No.

Details of the local 
tax authority/

authorising revenue 
collection agency:

Department of Income Tax.

Useful websites:
http://www.e.gov.kw/sites/kgoenglish/portal/Pages/
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Visitors/DoingBusinessInKuwait/GoverningBody_Over
View.aspx
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Tax Liability:
Kyrgyz residents are taxable on their worldwide 
income.  

Non-residents are taxable on Kyrgyz source income.

Resident: a legal person established according to the 
laws of Kyrgyzstan or a person whose management 
bodies are in Kyrgyzstan.

Taxable Entities:
Resident legal entities.

Partnerships are tax transparent.

Corporate Tax Rates:
10%.

The taxable income of tax payers for which land is 
the principal productive asset and main source of 
income is only subject to land tax (see below).

Kyrgyzstan has special economic zones which are 
generally tax neutral.  These are: Naryn, Karakol, 
Bishkek and Maimak.

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 

and gas?

The standard corporate income tax rate is set at 0% 
for taxpayers mining and selling gold ore, gold 
concentrate, gold alloy and refined gold.  Instead, 
such taxpayers pay income tax at a rate of between 
1% and 20% of revenue from selling gold or based 
on the value of gold ore and gold concentrate (such 
values based on world gold prices).

Persons who explore for and extract mineral 
resources must pay "subsurface use" taxes:

(a) Bonus taxes are payable at differing rates 
depending on the resource in question;

(b) Royalties are applied as a percentage of turnover, 
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at rates from 1% to 12% depending on the resource 
in question.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 
Companies:

Dividends:  0%.

Royalties:  0%.

Interest:  10%, unless payment is to resident banks, 
the Kyrgyz Social Fund or resident lessors under a 
finance lease.

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends: 10%.

Royalties: 10%.

Interest: 10%.

There are also withholding taxes at the rates below
for activities performed by a non-resident who does 
not have a permanent establishment in Kyrgyzstan at 
the following rates:

International telecommunication/freight: 5%.

Management and consulting services: 5%.

Other services and activities: 10%.

Is the jurisdiction 

party to any income 
and capital double 
taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Losses related to economic activity can be carried 
forward for up to five years and deducted from 
taxable income.

Losses on the disposal of securities can only be set 
off against gains from the disposal of securities.  Any 
remaining losses can be carried forward for up to five 
calendar years and set off against gains on the 
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disposal of other securities.  

No carry back of losses is permitted.

Employment Taxes:
Employer:

(a) Social security: 2.25%.

(b) Pension contributions: 15% (reduced to 3% for 
non-Kyrgyz nationals temporarily residing in 
Kyrgyzstan) of the employee's gross salary.

On the employee:

(a) State pension fund: 2%.

(b) Pension contributions: 8%.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
VAT is levied at a standard rate of 12%.

Sales tax is levied on the realisation of goods, 
performance of works and rendering of services at a 
rate of between 1% - 3% (depending on the type of 
activity and whether or not the sale is within the 
scope of Kyrgyz VAT).

Transfer Taxes:
No.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
There are various customs and excise duties. 

Are there any 
local/municipal 

taxes?

(a) Property tax is payable by legal entities who own 
transport vehicles and immovable property in 
Kyrgyzstan at rates not exceeding 0.8% of the 
taxable value of the property (0.35% in the case of 
residual buildings).

(b) Land tax is payable by legal entities based on the 
total area of land owned.  Rates are set by reference 
to location and purpose of the land plot.

General Anti-
Avoidance Rule?

No, and only very limited transfer pricing rules.

Participation 
Exemption?

No.  However, dividends received from domestic 
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organisations are exempt from tax.

Thin Capitalisation 

Rules?
No.

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 
foreign companies:

No. 

Details of the local 
tax 

authority/authorising 
revenue collection 
agency:

State Tax Inspectorate of the Ministry of Finance.

Local tax authorities.

Useful websites:
http://www.minfin.kg/
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Tax Liability:
Territorial. An entity (local or foreign) is taxable on all 
Lebanese sourced income generated from activities 
carried on in Lebanon.  Resident entities are also 
taxable on interest and dividend receipts from foreign 
entities.

An entity is resident in Lebanon if:

(a) it is incorporated in Lebanon; or

(b) it is a permanent establishment of a foreign entity 
in Lebanon.

Taxable Entities:
All local and foreign companies and local branches 
with Lebanese source income. 

Various entities such as hospitals and certain public 
institutions are tax exempt.

Partnerships are not separate taxable persons.

Corporate Tax Rates:
15% corporate income tax.  This may be reduced to 
7.5% in relation to constructing residential property.

10% on disposal of fixed Lebanese situs, tangible and
intangible assets.

Holding companies are exempt from corporate 
income tax on profits and dividends.

Offshore companies are exempt from corporate 
income tax but are subject to an annual tax charge of 
LBP 1 million.

Certain dividend distributions are tax free in the 
hands of the recipient.
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Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 

and gas?

No.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 

Companies:
Dividends: 10% although this may be reduced to 5% 
if certain conditions are met, for example if the 
shares of the distributing company are listed on the 
Beirut Stock Exchange, and will be reduced to 0% if 
distributed by holding companies or offshore 
companies.  

Royalties: 0%.

Interest: 10%.  5% rate applies to interest on bank 
deposits, bonds issued by joint-stock companies, 
Lebanese Treasury bills and certain other categories 
of interest.

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  10% although this may be reduced to 5% 
if certain conditions are met, for example if the 
shares of the distributing company are listed on the 
Beirut Stock Exchange, and will be reduced to 0% if 
distributed by holding companies or offshore 
companies.  

Royalties: 7.5%.

Interest: 10%, or 5% for interest on debts, deposits 
and guarantees.

Technical or management fees: 7.5%.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 

and capital double 
taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Taxable losses can be carried forward for three years 
although this is restricted following a change of 
ownership.
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Capital losses can only be set against capital gains 
incurred in the same year.

No carry back of losses is permitted.

Employment Taxes:
Payroll tax of between 2% and 20%.  The 20% rate 
applies on incomes in excess of US$80,000 per 
annum.  This tax is deducted at source by the 
employer.  

There are three mandatory social security schemes 
totalling 23.5%.  Contributions are made by the 
employer.  

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
VAT is charged at a standard rate of 10%.

Transfer Taxes:
6% transfer tax registration duty on the transfer of 
real estate.

Stamp duty is charged on most contracts. This is 
based on the size or category of the document.  
Stamp duty of 0.3% together with a lump sum fee is 
payable on the formation of corporates and 
partnerships.  Stamp duty is also payable on the 
transfer of shares and units.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Rental income from Lebanese real property is taxed 
at rates between 4-14%.

Companies may be subject to an annual property tax 
on Lebanese-situs developed land at rates between 
4-14%.

Customs duties are levied on the majority of imports 
from 01-70%.

Profits of a Lebanese branch of a foreign entity are 
subject to 10% branch remittance tax in addition to 
Lebanese corporate income tax.

Are there any 
local/municipal 
taxes?

No.
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General Anti-
Avoidance Rule?

No.  

Participation 
Exemption?

No.

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

No.

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 

foreign companies:

A non-resident company must appoint a fiscal 
representative who resides in Lebanon prior to 
commencing taxable activities.  This representative is 
then responsible for remitting taxes to the Lebanese 
tax authorities.

Ministerial decree is required when a company 
owning more than 3,000 square meters of land has 
foreign ownership.

Details of the local 
tax 
authority/authorising 

revenue collection 
agency:

Ministry of Finance.

Useful websites:
Ministry of Finance:

http://www.finance.gov.lb/Pages/index.htm

Lebanese Customs:

http://www.customs.gov.lb/customs/index.htm
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Tax Liability:
Mongolian residents are taxable on their worldwide 
income.  

Non-residents are taxable on Mongolian source 
income. 

Resident: a corporation incorporated in Mongolia or 
with its head office in Mongolia.

Non-residents: foreign economic entities that 
conduct business activities in Mongolia and foreign 
entities operating through a permanent 
establishment or representative office in Mongolia 
which are not residents.

Taxable Entities:
Any economic entity that earns gross taxable 
income, such as a company, co-operative, 
partnership.  No specific entities are exempt from 
tax.

Corporate Tax Rates:
Both resident and non-resident companies are taxed 
at 10% on taxable income up to MNT 3,000,000,000 
and 25% on income in excess of MNT 
3,000,000,000. There is no separate capital gains 
tax regime. 

Government bond interest and co-operative income 
from intermediary services is exempt.  

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

The primary tax which applies to the mining sector 
is a royalty imposed on 'offtake'.  The holder of a 
mining licence must pay a royalty calculated on the 
total sales value of the minerals extracted.

Standard royalty rates are 2.5% for coal and other 
common mineral resources sold in Mongolia. A 5% 
royalty is imposed on all other minerals sold, 
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shipped for sale or used.

Certain surtax royalties additionally apply depending 
on the type of mineral and generally range from 0% 
to 5% of the market prices. Copper attracts a 
special royalty of up to 30%. 

Losses in the mining industry can be carried forward 
for between 4-8 years. 

Foreign investors investing in the mining industry 
can apply for 'Stability Agreements' with the 
Mongolian government which provides an investor 
with certainty as to tax rates over a fixed period of 
time.

Non-residents are exempt from tax on oil 
production-sharing income.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 

Companies:
Dividends:  10%.

Royalties:  10%.

Interest:  10% on bank deposit interest paid to 
residents. 

Technical service fees:  20% on fees for services 
rendered in Mongolia.

Real estate:  2% on gains deriving from real estate.

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  20%.

Royalties:  20%.

Interest:  20% on loans and finance leases if paid to 
non-residents.

Technical service fees:  20% on fees for services 
rendered in Mongolia.

Real estate:  2% on gains deriving from real estate.

Branch Remittance tax:  non-residents subject to a 



The New Silk Road Guide to Corporate Tax Essentials

Page 62

20% profit repatriation tax.

Goods and services:  20% on Mongolian source 
goods and services acquired by non-residents via 
the internet or other electronic means.

Gains on sale of shares:  10% if paid to non-
resident.

20% withholding taxes on various miscellaneous 
payments to non-residents including remitting 
profits from a Mongolian permanent establishment 
to its non-resident parent.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 
and capital double 

taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Losses may be carried forward although the period 
of time for which they can be carried forward varies 
depending upon the business sector.  For example, 
losses in the mineral and infrastructure sector may 
be carried forward for up to eight years.

No carry back of losses is permitted.

Employment Taxes:
No payroll tax.

Employers are to make social and health insurance 
contributions of 11%-21% of employee's monthly 
gross salary depending on the sector classification.

Employees are to make social and health insurance 
contributions at 10% of their monthly gross salary.

Capital gains from gross income from sale of real 
estate is subject to tax at 2% and gains from the 
sale of securities are taxed at 10%.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
10% standard rate.  There are some exemptions.  

Transfer Taxes:
Various different rates of documentary stamp duty.
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Transfers of shares, bonds and other securities may 
be subject to stamp duty.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Real estate tax of 1% of the value of certain 
immovable property.

Excise duty on certain goods manufactured or 
imported into Mongolia.

Customs duty at a flat rate 5% on most goods 
imported into Mongolia.

Are there any 

local/municipal 
taxes?

No. 

General Anti-

Avoidance Rule?
No.  However, under transfer pricing rules, related 
party transactions may be valued at fair market 
value.

Participation 
Exemption?

No.  

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

No deduction for interest on shareholder debt to the 
extent that it exceeds three times the shareholder's 
equity contribution.  Interest in excess of this is 
reclassified as a dividend.

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 

doing business with 
foreign companies:

Entities owned in whole or part by a foreign state 
and by foreign entities, persons or third parties 
wishing to operate in a strategic sector (including 
mining, information and communications and 
banking and finance) must obtain a permit from the 
Mongolian government and offshore transactions 
may be subject to additional withholding taxes.

Details of the local tax 
authority/authorising 
revenue collection 

agency:

Mongolian Tax Administration.

Useful websites: General Department of Taxation 
(http://en.mta.mn/)
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Tax Liability:
Omani "residents" are taxable on their worldwide 
income.

Non-residents are taxable if they carry on business 
in Oman or derive income there from, i.e. on Omani 
source income. 

Resident: There is no definition of residence.  
However, for these purposes, a resident means an 
Omani company or establishment and includes a 
foreign person's permanent establishment.

Note: As of 1 January 2010, Oman has moved from 
a territorial basis of taxation to a residence basis of 
taxation.

Taxable Entities:
A company incorporated under Omani laws.  A 
"company" includes general partnerships, limited 
partnerships, joint ventures and permanent 
establishments of foreign entities.

Establishments of non-residents carrying on 
commercial, industrial or professional activities in 
Oman.

Corporate Tax Rates:
First RO 30,000, tax free thereafter 12%.  

Oil companies are subject to tax at 55%.

Investors operating in the Salalah Free Zone and 
Knowledge Oasis Muscat are eligible for an income 
tax exemption for up to thirty years.

Some activities (including for example air and 
maritime traffic utilities services and tourism) are 
also exempt, as are investment funds established 
under Omani law and foreign investment funds 
dealing in securities listed on the Muscat Stock 
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Exchange.

Any special tax 

regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

Oil companies are subject to tax at 55% and are 
subject to tax under special rules in concession 
agreements.

A maximum 10 year exemption from income tax and 
customs duties for companies operating in the 
industry and mining sector.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 

Companies:
None.

Payments to Non-

Resident Companies:
Dividends:  0%.

Royalties:  0%.  

Royalties:  10% for companies without a permanent 
establishment. in Oman.

Interest:  0%.

Management fees/consideration for research and 
development/use/the right to use computer 
software: 10%. 

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 

and capital double 
taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Losses may be carried forward and set off against 
taxable income for up to five years unless they arise 
from certain tax exempt business.

No carry back of losses is permitted.

There are no special rules for capital losses.

In some circumstances, losses may be carried 
forward beyond five years.
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Employment Taxes:
No payroll taxes.

Social security contributions: 

Employees' contribution of 6.5% of monthly salary 
for employees between the age of 15 and 59; and

Employers' contribution of 9.5% of monthly salary.

Employers must also contribute 1% of monthly 
salary for industrial illness and injuries.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
No, but there are certain taxes on consumption such 
as electricity and annual rental of leased premises.

VAT may be introduced in the Gulf Cooperation 
Council ("GCC") group.

Transfer Taxes:
No transfer taxes or stamp duty.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
All commercial companies/establishments employing 
20 or more people must pay a training levy or 
provide a training scheme for Omani employees.

Are there any 
local/municipal 

taxes?

Yes, in Salalah and Muscat municipalities including a 
3% municipal tax on property rental.

General Anti-
Avoidance Rule?

Yes.  Certain transactions which the tax authorities 
have a reasonable cause to believe were entered 
into to reduce or to avoid tax can be rendered void.  
Related party transactions intended to reduce 
taxable income can be deemed to be arm's length.

Participation 

Exemption?
No, but the receipt of dividends may be tax exempt.

Thin Capitalisation 

Rules?
New rules on interest deductions were introduced in 
2012 on connected party loans, including a debt-to-
equity ratio not exceeding 2 for the interest to be 
deductible.  There are provisions in case this ratio is 
exceeded.

CFC Legislation?
No.
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Specific rules for 
doing business with 

foreign companies:

A foreign business is required to register with the 
tax authorities.

Details of the local tax 
authority/authorising 

revenue collection 
agency:

Ministry of Finance and Secretariat General for 
Taxation.

Useful websites:
Oman Ministry of Finance website www.mof.gov.om
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Tax Liability:
Pakistani residents are taxable on their worldwide 
income.

Non-residents are taxable on Pakistani-source 
income.

Resident: incorporated or formed under the laws of 
Pakistan or its management and control is wholly in 
Pakistan.

Non-Resident: not incorporated or formed or 
managed or controlled wholly in Pakistan.

Taxable Entities:
"Companies" are taxable, and companies includes: 
limited companies, body corporates formed by or 
under any law in force in Pakistan, body corporates
incorporated outside of Pakistan, trusts, any foreign 
association and partnerships (but excluding certain 
types of professional partnership).

Corporate Tax Rates:
25% for small companies.

35% otherwise.

There are generous tax incentives around 
investment in alternative energy power generation 
and equity financed new corporate industrial 
undertakings.

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 

and gas?

Gas distribution companies must charge sales tax at 
5% on supplies to compressed natural gas filling 
stations.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 
Companies:

Dividends: 10% (other than inter-corporate 
dividends between companies qualifying for group 
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taxation).

Interest:  10% (unless it is inter-corporate debt).

Rent for immovable property:  5%/7.5%/10%.

Disposal of immovable property:  0.5%.

Payment on execution of a contract (other than for 
the supply of goods or services):  6%.

(not a full list)

Payments to Non-

Resident Companies:
Dividends:  10%.

Interest:  10%.

Royalties or fees for technical services:  15%.

Payment on execution of certain contracts:  6%.

Sweeper withholding tax rate:  20%.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 

and capital double 
taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
Holding companies and subsidiaries of a wholly 
owned group may opt to be taxed as one fiscal unit.

There are special provisions around disposal of 
assets between group companies and where a 
change of control occurs.

Losses:
Business losses (other than in relation to speculative 
business) can be set off against any taxable income 
arising in the same tax year, and any excess losses 
can be carried forward up to six years.

Losses from speculative business and capital losses 
can be carried forward one year and set off against 
speculative business income and capital gains for 
that year.
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Special rules around losses derived from securities.

No carry back of losses is permitted.

Employment Taxes:
No payroll tax.

Employer social security contributions:

(a) 5% of minimum wages for old age and invalidity 
insurance;

(b) 2% of total taxable income of an industrial 
establishment.

There are also provincial social security contributions 
which are paid by an employer at a rate of up to 
PKR 120 per day of PKR 3,000 per annum per 
employee.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
The standard rate of GST is 16%.

In addition, there are 3 higher rates of GST at 
18.5%, 21% and 25%.

Customs duties are levied on imports and exports.

1% turnover tax on declared turnover of a resident 
company and certain other tax payers.

Transfer Taxes:
Generally there is a 0.5% stamp duty on share 
issues and 1.5% stamp duty on share transfers 
unless transferred to/through a central depositary, 
then 0.1% stamp duty.

A legal instrument or document which is subject to 
stamp duty is not a valid document unless duty has 
been paid.

Capital value tax applies to individuals, firms and 
companies which acquire an asset by purchase or a 
right to use for more than twenty years. The rates 
vary depending on the type of asset in question.

5% transfer tax on gross sale proceeds of property 
and goods sold at auction.
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Miscellaneous Taxes:
Zakat at 2.5% on certain persons ("sahib-i-
misab") based on their net wealth.

Federal insurance fee is levied on all types of 
insurance contract.

Capital duty on incorporation or increase of capital, 
ranging from PKR 2,500-10,000,000.

Are there any 
local/municipal 

taxes?

An agricultural land tax is charged at varying rates 
depending on the size of an agricultural land owners' 
holding and the province in which the land is 
situated.

Property tax is levied at the provincial level.  Certain 
provincial taxes on the annual value of real estate
e.g. in Punjab and West Pakistan Province, real 
estate tax is levied at variable rates and 10% 
respectively.

General Anti-
Avoidance Rule?

Transactions entered into to avoid tax, or which 
have no substance may be re-characterised and 
transactions which have no economic substance may 
be disregarded.

There is also a general arm's length transfer pricing 
principle and an international anti-avoidance 
provision in relation to transfer pricing.

Participation 

Exemption?
No, although intercorporate dividends are exempt 
for companies qualifying for group taxation.

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

If a Pakistan resident company under foreign control 
(other than a financial institution or a bank) or a 
branch of a foreign company operating in Pakistan 
has foreign debt to foreign equity ratio in excess of 
3:1 at any time during a tax year, deductions are 
disallowed in respect of the interest on the portion 
which exceeds the 3:1 ratio.

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 

doing business with 
Non-residents can obtain advance rulings on tax 
matters.
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foreign companies:

Details of the local tax 

authority/authorising 
revenue collection 
agency:

Federal Board of Revenue.

Various Provincial Tax Authorities.

Useful websites:
www.fbr.gov.pk (Federal Bureau of Revenue)

www.commerce.gov.pk (Ministry of Commerce)
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Please note that this excludes Macau and Hong Kong.

Tax Liability:
Chinese residents are taxable on their worldwide 
income.

Non-residents are taxable on China-source income 
and income effectively connected with a business 
carried on through any establishment in China. 

Resident: entities established under Chinese law or 
entities established under foreign laws but with their 
place of effective management situated in China.

Non-resident: 

(a) entities established under foreign laws with an 
establishment in China but whose place of effective 
management is outside China; or 

(b) entities established outside China with no 
establishment in China, but deriving income from 
sources in China. 

Taxable Entities:
Enterprises including foreign investment enterprises 
(which include Chinese-foreign equity joint ventures, 
Chinese-foreign contractual joint ventures and 
wholly foreign-owned entities established in China) 
and foreign enterprises with or without 
establishments in China, companies and some 
associations. 

Partnerships are not separate taxable entities.

Corporate Tax Rates:
Standard company income tax rate: 25%.  Low-
profit enterprises are taxed at 20%.

There are various incentive regimes to encourage 
investment and development of certain regions. 
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Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 

and gas?

Resource tax is levied on enterprises engaged in 
extractive industries including crude oil, natural gas 
and coal.  Windfall tax ranging from 20% to 40% 
imposed on income from crude oil and is calculated 
on price per barrel.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 

Companies:
None.

Payments to Non-

Resident Companies:
Dividends:  10% (although dividends paid from pre-
2008 profits are exempt).

Royalties:  10% (exemption available for the 
transfer of advanced technology). 

Interest (including guarantee fees which are deemed 
to be interest):   10%.  Certain exemptions are 
available on application.

Note:  Fees for technical services and assistance in 
relation to patents, copyrights and other commercial 
knowledge are regarded as royalties and subject to 
10% withholding tax but fees for professional 
services such as engineering, management or 
consultancy, are not regarded as royalties.

Miscellaneous other payments are also subject to 
withholding tax, such as capital gains, gains from 
transfers of land-use rights, lease and rental income 
from real property and payment default at 10%.

Is the jurisdiction 

party to any income 
and capital double 
taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Ordinary losses are generally deductible and may be 
carried forward for a maximum of five years.  

Losses of one branch may be set off against the 
income of another branch, but losses of subsidiaries 
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may not be set against the income of other 
subsidiaries.

Losses from an overseas establishment can not be 
set off against profits attributable to Chinese 
establishments.

Losses may not be carried back.

Capital losses from an equity investment may only 
be deducted on a one-off basis in the tax year in 
which they are recognised.  Capital losses from the 
sale of shares are deductible.

Employment Taxes:
No payroll tax.

Employers' social security contributions are 
generally at approximately 20% but this can be up 
to 40% of the employee's base monthly salary and 
depends on the local authority.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
Standard rate:  17%.  

Services which are not generally subject to VAT are 
subject to business tax.  Business tax is levied on 
gross turnover and ranges from 3% to 20%. 

Pilot schemes are underway to reform business tax 
and VAT.

Consumption tax is an excise tax imposed on the 
manufacture/import of certain luxury goods charged 
at 1% to 56%. 

Transfer Taxes:
Deed tax on transactions in land at rates from 3%-
5% on the value of land stated in the relevant 
document. 

Land appreciation tax imposed on the increase in 
value of real property on transfer of interests in real 
property charged at 30% to 60%, depending on the 
percentage increase in value. 

Stamp duty on specified documents ranging from 
0.005% to 0.1%.  
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Stamp duty on transfers and purchase of shares at 
0.1% of the value of the shares on the transfer date.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Average import duty of 10%, although China does 
have some free trade agreements.

Urban land use tax is imposed on all units which use 
land located in cities and towns.

Annual real estate tax levied on land and buildings 
at 1.2% on original cost or 12% on rental income.

Are there any 

local/municipal 
taxes?

There are various local levies including urban areas 
maintenance and construction tax and education 
surcharges.  These are based on the amounts of 
VAT, business tax and consumption tax paid and the 
rate, which is dependent on the location of the 
taxpayer, ranges from - 4% to 10%.  There is a 
local additional education charge.

General Anti-
Avoidance Rule?

China has a general anti-avoidance rule pursuant to 
which adjustments going back ten years can be 
made to arrangements that have the result of a 
reduction/deferral or avoidance of tax and which are 
made without any justifiable commercial or business 
reason.  Tax authorities are required to take a 
'substance over form' approach.  The targets of the 
general anti-avoidance include abuse of treaties and 
use of tax havens for the avoidance of taxes.

There are also transfer pricing rules such that 
enterprises are required to conduct business with 
their related parties on arm's length terms. 

Participation 

Exemption?
No.  However, there is an exemption for certain 
dividends paid between resident entities.

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

Yes.  Debt-equity ratios cannot exceed 5:1 for 
financial institutions and 2:1 otherwise. 

Interest on excess debt is not deductible.  Non-
deductible interest is re-characterised as dividends 
and taxed as income.
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CFC Legislation?
Yes.  In certain situations a resident's share of 
undistributed profits of a CFC must be included in its 
taxable income if the CFC is incorporated in a low 
tax jurisdiction subject to an effective tax rate of 
12.5% and does not or insufficiently distributes its 
profits without operational justification.  

The inclusion of profits is not required where the 
CFC is located in a white list country or mainly 
derives income through active business activities.  

Specific rules for 
doing business with 
foreign companies:

Disclosure requirements in relation to the provision 
of services by non-resident companies. 

Details of the local tax 
authority/authorising 

revenue collection 
agency:

Ministry of Finance.

State Administration of Taxation.

Useful websites:
http://english.mofcom.gov.cn/

http://www.chinatax.gov.cn/n6669073/
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Tax Liability:
Territorial. An entity (local or foreign) is taxable on all 
income arising from activities in Qatar.

Taxable Entities:
Profits of resident companies wholly owned by Qatari 
or other Gulf Cooperation Council ("GCC") nationals 
are exempt from tax.  

Resident: any body corporate incorporated in Qatar 
with its head office or its place of effective 
management in Qatar.

Any other business entity (including companies, 
partnerships and joint ventures) carrying on activities 
in Qatar is taxable.

Corporate Tax Rates:
10% (see mining/oil and gas below).

There are various tax holidays and incentives under 
the Qatar Financial Centre ("QFC") and Qatar 
Science and Technology Park ("QSTP") regimes.  
The QSTP is a free zone.

Taxpayers may also apply to the "Tax Exemption 
Committee" in order to obtain an exemption for a 
specific project.  There is a list of criteria which is 
considered to assess whether the exemption is 
available.

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

Taxable entities carrying on petroleum operations are 
subject to tax under the provisions of the agreements 
they entered into with the State.  The tax rate may 
not be less than 35%.

Losses may be carried forward for up to three years 
other than under a production sharing contract 
("PSC").  Generally, expenses and tax losses on one 
project may not be set off against income from 
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another project.  

Oil and gas service companies are taxed at a 10% 
rate.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 
Companies:

Dividends:  0%.

7% on commissions, brokerage fees, directors' fees, 
attendance fees and fees for other services 
performed in whole or in part in Qatar.

A retention tax at 3% of the contract value or the 
final payment (whichever is higher) applies to 
payments made to a branch registered for a 
particular project (temporary branch).

QFC entities are not subject to withholding tax.

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  0%.

Royalties:  5%.

Certain intercompany interest payments:  7%.

Technical services fees:  5%.

7% on commissions, brokerage fees, directors' fees, 
attendance fees and fees for other services 
performed in whole or in part in Qatar.

A retention tax at 3% of the contract value or the 
final payment (whichever is higher) applies to 
payments made to a branch registered for a 
particular project (temporary branch).

Non-resident Qatari companies which do not have a 
permanent establishment in Qatar but do receive 
Qatari source income are subject to a final 
withholding tax.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 

and capital double 

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.
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taxation treaties?

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Losses may be carried forward for up to three years.  
The carryback of losses is not permitted.  Capital 
losses are deductible and carried forward in the same 
way as ordinary losses.

Loss relief is not available in limited situations.

No carry back of losses is permitted.

Employment Taxes:
No payroll taxes.

Social security:  For Qatari employees working in the 
public sector and in certain listed companies, the 
employer must contribute 10% of basic salary to a 
retirement scheme each month.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
No, however it is speculated that VAT may be 
introduced in the future. 

Transfer Taxes:
No.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Customs duty of 5% applies on all imports from 
outside the Gulf Cooperation Council ("GCC") area.

Companies listed on the Qatari exchange are subject 
to a 2.5% levy on their net profits.

Nominal taxes on certain legal documents.

Are there any 
local/municipal 

taxes?

Annual license fee of QAR10,000 is levied on 
business.  This is aimed at compensating the 
municipal authorities for central governmental 
services.  

General Anti-

Avoidance Rule?
Yes, the tax authorities have discretion to counteract 
any tax benefit obtained from transactions carried 
out within a tax avoidance purpose.  These powers 
include substituting a general arm's-length value or 
re-characterising transactions.
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Note:  There is an arm's length transfer pricing rule.

Participation 
Exemption?

No.  However, dividends are exempt from tax, if the 
amounts distributed are received from profits that 
were (i) subject to tax or (ii) distributed by a tax 
exempt company under Qatari law company.

Thin Capitalisation 

Rules?
No, but interest payments made by a permanent 
establishment to its head office and related parties 
are not deductible for tax purposes.

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 

foreign companies:

An entity carrying on activities in Qatar must submit 
an application for a tax card to the Tax Department 
within 30 days from the date on which activities are 
commenced.

Details of the local 

tax authority/

authorising revenue 

collection agency:

Ministry of Finance – Public Revenues & Taxes 
Department and Qatar Financial Centre.

Useful websites:
www.mof.gov.qa/en



The New Silk Road Guide to Corporate Tax Essentials

Page 82

Tax Liability:
Russian residents are taxable on their worldwide 
income.

Non-residents with no permanent establishment in 
Russia are taxable on income from commercial 
activities undertaken in Russia and passive income 
from Russian sources.

Resident: A legal entity established in accordance 
with/under Russian law.

Non-resident: A legal entity established in 
accordance with/under foreign law.

Taxable Entities:
Companies, general partnerships, limited 
partnerships, industrial cooperatives and other 
partnerships (e.g. simple partnerships and silent 
partnerships) are tax transparent, unitary 
enterprises.

Corporate Tax Rates:
General rate of 20%, although 15% on foreign 
dividends to which the participation exemption does 
not apply are taxed at 15%.  There are exempt items 
of income and capital gains.  There are special 
reduced rates of depreciation and social security 
contributions and an exemption from corporate 
property tax and land tax.  Additional incentives may 
also be introduced.

Special investment tax credits are also available in 
some sectors and a 150% deduction for profits tax 
purposes is available for qualifying R&D expenditure.

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

Yes. The petroleum industry is subject to royalties 
(Mineral Extraction Tax ("MET")), corporate profits 
tax and export duty on crude oil, oil products and 
natural gas.  Income from oil and gas activities is 
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subject to the 20% corporate income tax.

MET is levied on extracted natural gas, gas 
condensate and crude oil, subject to certain 
exceptions including oil being extracted from oil 
deposits in certain locations being exempt (e.g. in 
Yakutia, Irkutsk Oblast, Krasnoyarsk, etc).

The rate of export duty is determined by the Russian 
Government on a monthly basis.  This duty is 0% for 
oil extracted from a number of oil fields in East 
Russian and the Caspian Sea, and ranges from 30% -
90% dependent upon which produce is being 
exported.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 
Companies:

Dividends:  9% unless the participation exemption 
applies.  0% if the participation exemption applies.

Royalties:  0%.

Interest:  15% on interest on certain state and 
municipal securities, and 9% on certain mortgage 
bonds and long-term municipal bonds.

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  15%.

Royalties:  20%.

Interest:  Generally 20% although this may be 
reduced to 15% for interest on certain state and 
municipal securities, 9% on certain mortgage bonds 
and long-term municipal bonds, and some interest 
payable (e.g. on listed bonds) may be exempt from 
withholding tax.

Other:  20% on the gross sales proceeds from the 
alienation of immovable property and of shares in 
real estate companies (subject to certain exceptions 
and the ability of the taxpayer to elect to be taxed at 
the general rate of corporate income tax on any 
gain).

Withholding tax at varying rates applies to a variety 
of payments including rental and leasing income from 
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movable and immovable property and a general 
catch-all provision.

Is the jurisdiction 

party to any income 
and capital double 
taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
From 1 January 2012, Russian resident companies 
have been able to elect for consolidated treatment.  
No cross-border consolidation is permitted.

Losses:
Losses may be carried forward for ten years
(provided that the taxpayer was not paying 0% 
corporate income tax in the period to which the loss 
relates), and a legal successor may also claim a loss 
carry-forward for the predecessor company.

Capital losses are generally fully deductible, subject 
to restrictions for losses on the alienation of 
depreciable assets, and on the assignment of 
receivables and some capital losses may be carried 
forwards.  There are specific rules around capital 
losses arising from the alienation of securities

Employment Taxes:
No payroll tax.

Social security contributions are payable by 
employers generally at an aggregate of 30%.  
Different rates apply to some taxpayers, including 
those with a special status involved in high 
technology industries.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
Standard rate of VAT:  18%

Transfer Taxes:
Transfers of immovable property are subject to a 
state registration fee.

Miscellaneous Taxes:

Are there any 
local/municipal 
taxes?

Property Tax is levied at a rate of up to 2.2% on the 
worldwide fixed assets of Russian resident companies 
and on the Russian immovable property of foreign 
companies (unless exempt under a treaty).  The 
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actual rate may vary from region to region.

Land tax is payable by all companies owning plots of 
land in Russia other than companies operating in 
special economic zones and religious organisations.  
The tax rate depends upon the purpose for which the 
land is used and is up to 1.5% of the value of the 
land as stated in the state land register as at 1 
January of the relevant tax year for non-agricultural 
land and land used other than for housing purposes.

Capital duty is levied at 0.2% of the nominal value 
(up to RUR200,000) on the qualifying issue of 
securities.

Stamp duty is levied but is usually nominal.

An extensive list of state duties levied, for example 
on the initiation of court action.

General Anti-
Avoidance Rule?

No, although there is a substance over form 
approach.  There is also a transfer pricing rule which 
covers domestic and international transactions.

Participation 

Exemption?
Yes.  Domestic dividends received by Russian 
resident companies are exempt from withholding tax 
and corporate income tax if the recipient company 
holds at least 50% of the capital in the distributing 
company and has held that participation continuously 
for at least 365 days.

The participation exemption may also apply to 
foreign dividends provided that the distributing 
company is not resident in a territory that (i) is listed 
as a low-tax jurisdiction; and/or (ii) does not 
exchange information with Russia.

Thin Capitalisation 

Rules?
Yes.  Interest paid by a resident company to a non-
resident legal entity that holds directly or indirectly 
more than 20% of the resident company, or to a 
permanent establishment of a non-resident legal 
entity, is subject to thin capitalisation rules.  Under 
these rules, interest deductibility is restricted where 
the debt to equity ratio exceeds 3:1 (12.5:1 for 
companies engaged in banking or leasing activities).  
The remainder is reclassified as dividends and taxed 
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accordingly.

The thin-capitalisation rules also apply in the case of 
financing through a resident legal entity affiliated 
with a non-resident creditor, and where a non-
resident creditor or affiliated resident legal entity 
provides a guarantee or security for a loan.

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 

foreign companies:

A foreign legal entity which conducts an activity in 
Russian through a "separate division" (e.g. a branch, 
representative office, place of business) for more 
than 30 days in a calendar year, is required to 
register with the Russian tax authorities within 30 
days of commencing activity, regardless of whether 
such activity is taxable.

Details of the local 
tax 
authority/authorising 

revenue collection 
agency:

Federal Tax Service of the Russian Federation

Useful websites:
http://eng.nalog.ru
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Tax Liability:
A Saudi Arabian resident is taxable on its worldwide 
income in respect of the share of non-Saudi (and 
non-Gulf Cooperation Council ("GCC") partners.

Non-residents are taxable on Saudi Arabian source 
income.

Resident: a company incorporated under Saudi law or 
with its place of effective management in Saudi 
Arabia.

Non-resident: a company incorporated and with its 
place of effective management outside of Saudi 
Arabia.

Taxable Entities:
Companies. Partnerships are not taxable entities. 

Corporate Tax Rates:
20% on a non-Saudi's share in a resident 
corporation.

30% for entities involved in exploiting natural gas.

85% for entities involved in producing oil and 
hydrocarbons.

Zakat is assessed at 2.5% on relevant persons.

There are 10-year tax incentives for investments in 
Hail, Jizan, Abha, Northern Border, Najran, Al-jouf.

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

See corporate tax rates above.

Natural Gas Investment Tax  ("NGIT") applies (at 
progressive rates between 30% and 85%) to profit 
generated by persons engaged in any activity related 
to the natural gas sector in Saudi Arabia.  Corporate 
income tax at 30% remains chargeable, however the 
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tax is creditable against the NGIT.  Zakat (if relevant) 
is also creditable against NGIT.

The 5% withholding on distributions (including 
dividends) paid to non-residents (see below), does 
not apply to distributions made by companies 
operating in the oil and gas sectors.

Investors need to obtain a licence to explore for 
minerals.  The licensee must pay the lower of 25% of 
the net revenues, or an amount equal to the income 
tax to the Saudi government.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to 
Resident Companies:

None.

Payments to Non-

Resident Companies:
Distributions:  5%. Distributions include dividends, 
excess of liquidation proceeds over capital and profits 
transferred by a permanent establishment to a 
related entity.

Royalties:  15%.

Interest:  5%.

Other:

5% on profits remitted abroad (branch remittance 
tax).

5% on rent, payments for technical and consulting 
services, insurance or reinsurance premiums.  

15% on technical service fees may be reduced to 5%.

15% for services provided by headquarters of an 
organisation or associated enterprise.

15% on any other payments, and on technical service 
fees.

20% on management fees.
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Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 

and capital double 
taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely 
provided that the maximum amount deducted each 
year does not exceed 25% of the annual profits as 
per the tax return.

There are special loss rules around changes of 
ownership.

Losses related to exempt activities may not be 
deducted or carried forward.

Capital losses can be deducted from taxable income.

No carry back of losses is permitted.

Employment Taxes:
There is no payroll tax.

For Saudi employees, the employer must contribute 
9% of the employee's salary as a wage contribution 
and the employee must also contribute 9%.  The 
employer must pay accident insurance equal to 2% of 
salary for Saudi and non-Saudi employees.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
No, although it is speculated that VAT may be 
introduced in the future.

Transfer Taxes:
No.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
5% customs duty on all imports.

Nominal indirect taxes on legal documents.

Are there any 

local/municipal 
taxes?

No.

General Anti-
Avoidance Rule?

Yes.  Also, the DZIT may re-characterise a 
transaction where its form does not reflect its 
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substance, and may apply the arm's length principle 
in the valuation of transactions and make 
adjustments between related parties.

Participation 

Exemption?
Yes, dividends paid by a Saudi resident company to 
another Saudi resident company will be exempt 
provided that (i) the beneficiary of the dividends has 
a minimum holding of 10% in the distributing 
company; (ii) the participation has been held for at 
least one year; and (iii) the income of the distributing 
company has been subject to tax in Saudi Arabia.

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

No.  However, the deduction of interest expenses is 
limited to the lower of the actual expense or interest 
income plus 50% of taxable income before interest 
income and interest expense. 

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 
foreign companies:

No.

Details of the local 
tax authority/

authorising revenue 
collection agency:

Department of Zakat and Income Tax (DZIT).

Useful websites:
www.dzit.gov.sa/en
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Tax Liability:
Territorial. An entity (local or foreign) is taxable on all 
Syrian sourced income generated from activities in 
Syria. 

Taxable Entities:
All corporate entities generating profits in Syria.

Corporate Tax Rates:
Rates are progressive from 10% to 28%.

Specific rates encompass:

More than 22% for joint stock companies offering less 
than 50% of their shares to the public, LLCs and 
projects signed with Syrian companies under the 
investment encouragement laws;

14% for joint stock companies that offer more than 
51% of their shares to the public;

15% for insurance companies that offer at least 51% 
of their shares to the public; and

25% for private banks and insurance companies.

Gains on real property are taxed at between 15% and 
30% of the registered value.

There are incentives in relation to free zones, certain 
industrial projects, under investment laws and for 
tourism.

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

A Syrian company contracting with an oil company 
will be subject to withholding tax based on the 
contract value rather than corporate income tax and 
real profits.  These tax rates are 1%, 2%, 4%, 7% or 
10%.

Withholding taxes:



The New Silk Road Guide to Corporate Tax Essentials

Page 92

Payments to 
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  0% withholding tax if paid by a Syrian 
corporation from previously taxed Syrian income and 
7.5% withholding tax if paid by a Syrian corporation 
and paid out of dividends received from a non-
resident entity.

Royalties:  0%.

Interest:  0%.

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  7.5%.

Royalties:  5% and a 2% payroll tax.  

Interest:  7.5%.

7% on payments of technical service fees (including a 
2% payroll tax).

Is the jurisdiction 

party to any income 
and capital double 
taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Losses may be carried forward for five years.  

No carry back of losses is permitted.

Employment Taxes:
Payroll tax on the salaries of both local and foreign 
workers working in Syria are levied at progressive 
rates of 5% to 22%. 

Overall employer social security contributions of 
17.1% of payroll cost.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
No VAT.  

Consumption taxes ranging from 1.5% to 40% are 
levied on certain services and imported luxury goods.

Customs duties on imports under ordinary and 
preferential tariffs.
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Transfer Taxes:
Transfer tax varies according to the type of property 
and type of ownership transfer.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Real property tax and tax on rental income at rates 
ranging from 14%-60%.

Stamp duty on incorporation of vehicles and 
execution of various legal contracts at rates of 0.4%-
0.7%.

Capital duty is payable upon an initial public offering 
or subsequent capital increase.  Tax is payable up to 
a maximum of SYP 1 million - 0.4% of the capital to 
be paid on establishment and incorporation.  This 
may be reduced if shares are issued to the public.

Are there any 

local/municipal 
taxes?

There is local administration surtax of between 4% 
and 10% on corporate income.  The tax rate varies 
depending on the region.

General Anti-
Avoidance Rule?

No, and no transfer pricing rules.

Participation 
Exemption?

No.

Thin Capitalisation 

Rules?
No.

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 
foreign companies:

No.

Details of the local 
tax authority/

authorising revenue 
collection agency:

Ministry of Finance.

Useful websites:
www.fsa.org.sy

www.syrianfinance.org
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Tax Liability:
Tajikistan residents are taxable on their worldwide 
income.

Non-residents are taxable on Tajik-source income. 

Resident: a company which is incorporated or whose 
place of management is in Tajikistan.

Non-resident: A company which is incorporated 
outside of Tajikistan and its place of management is 
outside Tajikistan.

Taxable Entities:
Resident and non-resident enterprises including legal 
persons and branch offices having their own balance 
or budget and which are created under Tajik law and 
corporations, firms, companies and other similar 
entities created under foreign laws.

Religious, charitable, treasury, intergovernmental 
and international non-profit organizations are 
partially exempt and companies engaged in the 
construction of hydroelectricity stations in Tajikistan 
may be exempt.

Partnerships are tax transparent.  

Corporate Tax Rates:
Generally 15%.

25% for transportation, communications, services 
provision or banking.

Companies which qualify for the simplified regime are 
taxed at 4%.

Also, an additional 1% tax levied on the gross income 
of corporates.  This tax is due if it exceeds the 
amount of the corporate income tax.  
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Tajikistan has two free economic zones in Panj and 
Sugol.  Qualifying companies operating in these 
economic free zones are exempt from almost all 
taxes.  There are a number of exemptions for 
companies engaged in the construction of 
hydroelectricity stations in Tajikistan.

Certain income is exempt and there are numerous 
tax exemptions for new enterprises engaged in full-
circle processing of cotton fibre.

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

There are two types of taxes levied on subsoil users: 
a bonus and a royalty.

Bonus:

There are two types of bonus, both of which are one-
off payments.  These are (1) a signing bonus and (2) 
a commercial discovery bonus. The signing bonus is 
paid upon the award of sub-soil use rights to a 
selected investor. The commercial discovery bonus is 
payable for each commercial discovery capable of 
commercial development during exploration. Rates in 
relation to both are set by the government. 

Royalty:

The rates of royalties are fixed individually in the 
contracts, taking into account the expedience of a 
particular project. However, the use of subsoil 
without a contract (i.e. only on the basis of the 
obtained licence) attracts the application of default 
rates which include:

Oil, condensed and natural gas and diamonds: 6%;

Coal and turf: 4%;

Copper, lead, zinc and nickel: 6%;

Other precious stones: 4%;

Gold and silver: 6%;

Radioactive materials: 5%; and



The New Silk Road Guide to Corporate Tax Essentials

Page 96

Limestone: 5%.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 

Companies:
Dividends:  12%.

Royalties:  0%.

Interest:  12% on interest paid by resident 
companies or a permanent establishment (or on its 
behalf) out of Tajikistan source income.  

Interest:  0% on interest paid on loans and lease 
agreements to resident banks and other credit 
institutions, including resident microfinance 
organizations and resident leasing companies.

4% on fees for telecommunications, international 
transport services, and insurance premiums. 

Payments to Non-

Resident Companies:
Dividends:  12%.

Royalties:  15%.

Interest:  12%.

15% on other income, (including lease payments and 
services fees) paid to non-residents.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 
and capital double 

taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Ordinary losses may be carried forward up to three 
years and are offset against future taxable income. 

Capital losses realised from the disposal of assets 
which are used for non-entrepreneurial purposes can 
be offset against capital gains (future income from 
the disposal of other such assets), and can be carried 
forward for up to three years. Such losses may not 
be deducted for the purposes of corporate income 
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tax. 

No carry back of losses is permitted.

Employment Taxes:
There is no payroll tax.

Social Security:

Employers are required to pay a social tax at a rate 
of 25% of the total payroll cost of the employer.  The 
social tax is also due on amounts (other than 
salaries) paid to resident individuals for services 
rendered by them in the course of their business 
activity.

Employees can either self assess the social tax or the 
employer and employee can arrange how much the 
employer will deduct.

An individual entrepreneur may opt for a simplified 
tax regime by paying a lump sum of tax under a 
“patent-based regime”. The lump-sum tax 
substitutes income, social and retail tax, and is 
payable monthly. 

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
18%.

Transfer Taxes:
Transfer taxes at various rates apply to various 
transactions involving transfer of title to property.  
This includes the transfer of immovable property, 
transactions in commodities, raw-materials, currency 
and other exchanges.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Capital duty takes the form of a state fee for 
registering a company.

Land tax is levied on corporate land users for the use 
of land parcels.  The rate is generally determined as 
a fixed amount per square metre/hectare, but 
depends upon the location and productivity of the 
land parcel.  Some entities and plots of land are 
exempt.

Real estate tax applies to buildings and fixtures and 
is calculated by reference to land tax rates.
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Retail tax at 3% is levied on persons engaged in the 
sale of retail goods who receive payment in cash. 

Tolling tax on processed goods.

Sales tax on the supply and export of cotton fibre 
and primary aluminium. 

Branch tax of 9% is levied on the after-tax profit of a 
permanent establishment.

Are there any 

local/municipal 
taxes?

Local tax on immovable property and retail tax. 

General Anti-

Avoidance Rule?
Yes, there is a general provision preventing "treaty 
shopping". Transfer pricing legislation permits the tax 
authorities to challenge the agreed price for both 
national and international transactions between 
associated persons.

Participation 
Exemption?

No.

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

Whilst there are no thin capitalisation restrictions, 
interest deductibility:

 is limited to three times the amount of the 

refinance rate applied by the National Bank 

of Tajikistan in a given tax year; and

 interest deductions for payments to 

connected non-residents are limited to the 

borrower’s actual interest income plus 50% 

of its gross income less allowable expenses.

Similar rules apply if a resident corporate borrower 
pays interest to its resident tax-exempt shareholder. 

CFC Legislation?
Yes.  The CFC legislation applies to foreign 
corporations controlled by a resident individual or 
corporation. Control is defined as ownership (direct 
or indirect), of more than 10% of the charter capital 
(or of the voting shares) of a foreign corporation. 

A CFC is a corporation that is resident in a 
jurisdiction where the applicable nominal income tax 
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rate is 30% less than the rate applied in Tajikistan or 
whose laws on confidentiality of financial information 
or laws otherwise permit information on the 
beneficial owner of the property or income to be kept 
in secret.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 
foreign companies:

No.

Details of the local 
tax 
authority/authorising 

revenue collection 
agency:

State Tax Committee of Tajikistan.

Local taxes are administered by various local bodies. 

Useful websites:
http://www.aaa.tj/images/article.pdf - Tajikistan law 
firm
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Tax Liability:
Turkish resident companies are taxable on their 
worldwide income.

Non-resident companies are taxable on Turkish 
source income.  

Resident: its legal seat or place of effective 
management is in Turkey.  

Taxable Entities:
Corporations, limited liability companies, ordinary 
partnerships limited by shares, investment funds, 
cooperatives, business partnerships; commercial and 
industrial enterprises owned and operated by public 
authorities, associations and trusts.

Corporate Tax Rates:
Standard corporate tax rate is 20%.  

Specified sectors have reduced tax rates e.g. income 
arising from qualifying investments is subject to 
reduced corporate income tax rates, research and 
development initiatives for new technology, cultural 
and there are investments and customs free zones.

Any special tax 

regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

No.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 
Companies:

Dividends:  0%.

Royalties:  0%.

Interest:  There is a variety of withholding tax rates 
on payments of interest to residents, e.g. 0% on 
interest payments on Turkish government bonds and 
debentures and bonds and debentures issued by 
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companies (if received through banks and 
intermediary services).

10% on private bonds and debentures issued directly 
to the recipient.

Rates from 0% - 10% on income received by 
resident companies firm/jara certificates (sukuk) 
issued by certain companies.  The withholding tax 
rate should be analysed on a case-by-case basis.

20% on fees paid for professional services, e.g. 
consulting, supervision, technical assistance and 
design fees.

15% on remittance of branch profits to a head office 
(applied on the profits after corporate income tax).

6% on imports realised on credit.

Intermediaries may deduct 10% on proceeds from 
the disposal of securities.

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  15%.

Royalties:  20%.

Interest:  10% or 0% interest paid on loans to a 
foreign state, international institution or foreign bank 
or foreign corporation that qualifies as a "financial 
entity" in their country of residence (broadly 
speaking, meaning that they provide loans to the 
public rather than just to the companies in a specific 
group).

20% on fees paid for professional services, e.g. 
consulting, supervision, technical assistance and 
design fees.

15% on remittance of branch profits to a head office 
(applied on the profits after corporate income tax).

6% on imports realised on credit.

It is planned that a 30% withholding tax will apply to 
payments made to parties in countries/regions which 
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are deemed to cause harmful tax competition.

Intermediaries may deduct 10% on proceeds from 
the disposal of securities.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 
and capital double 

taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Tax losses may be carried forward for five years and 
must be used against the first available year's 
income.  

Losses may only be carried back on liquidation.

Employment Taxes:
Payroll tax is operated by employers at progressive 
tax rates from 15%-35% levied on salaries.

Social Security:
The rate of social security varies depending upon the 
risk category of the job.  The general rules are 
19.5%-25% for Employer's Contributions and 14% 
for Employee's Contributions.

Unemployment Benefit Plan:
Employers and employees must also contribute to 
the Unemployment Benefit Plan at rates of 2% and 
1% respectively, based on the gross salary of the 
employee.

Salary payments are subject to stamp tax at a rate 
of 0.66%.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
Standard rate of 18%.

Transfer Taxes:
Real estate transfer tax rate of 4% calculated on the 
acquisition/transfer value and split equally between 
the buyer and the seller.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Compulsory contribution to the Competition Board 
equal to 0.04% of the capital committed when a 
company is incorporated, and 0.04% of any 
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subsequent increase in capital.

Stamp duty at rates ranging from 0.825%-0.165% 
depending on the type of document.

15% tax on bank and insurance charges.

Banks must withhold 3% on certain foreign 
denominated principal and certain sorts of interest.

Are there any 
local/municipal 
taxes?

Environmental tax levied on residents of buildings 
used as a place of business.

Real property tax levied by municipalities on the 
value of certain land and buildings.  The rates range 
from 0.1%-0.3% and are increased by 100% for 
buildings and land in larger cities.

General Anti-

Avoidance Rule?
Yes.  The tax authorities can disregard transactions 
in order to allow the true substance of a taxable 
event to prevail.

There is also a transfer pricing rule between related 
parties (resident and/or non-resident) whereby 
profits arising from non-arm's length arrangements 
will be deemed to be dividends and subject to 
corporate income tax and dividend withholding tax.  
See also withholding tax (above).

Participation 
Exemption?

Yes.  Dividends received by a resident company from 
a non-resident company are exempt from 
corporation tax if: 

(1) the non-resident payer is a corporation or limited 
liability company; 

(2) the Turkish recipient has owned at least 10% of 
the paid-in capital of the payer for at least one year; 

(3) the profits out of which the dividends are paid 
were subject to foreign income tax of at least 15% 
(20% if the main activity of the payer is the 
provision of financing, including financial leasing, 
insurance services or investments in securities); and

(4) the dividends are remitted to Turkey by the date 
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the corporate tax return is due.

There is also a holding company regime under which 
capital gains derived by a Turkish international 
holding company may be exempt.

Also 75% of capital gains derived from the sale of 
local participations or immovable property may be 
exempt if certain conditions are satisfied.

The participation exemption does not apply to all 
legal entities.

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

Yes.  When loans from shareholders or related 
parties exceed a 3:1 debt-to-equity ratio at any time 
in an accounting period (or 6:1 in the case of loans 
from related party banks or financial institutions) 
interest payments in excess of the safe harbour ratio 
will be deemed to constitute a hidden profit 
distribution or a remittance of profits and subject to 
15% dividend withholding tax.  Related expenses, 
foreign exchange losses and interest payments are 
non-deductible.

CFC Legislation?
Yes.  CFC rules will apply if a resident controls 
(indirectly or directly) at least 50% of the capital, 
dividends or voting rights of a foreign company and 
25% or more of its gross revenue is passive income, 
is subject to an effective income tax rate lower than 
10% and its annual total gross revenue exceeds TRY 
100,000.

If these conditions are met, the CFC's profit will be 
pro-rated to the controlling resident corporation.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 

foreign companies:

No.

Details of the local 
tax authority/

authorising revenue 
collection agency:

Ministry of Finance.

Presidency of Revenue Administration.

Useful websites: http://www.maliye.gov.tr/Sayfalar/Eng/AnaSayfa.as
px
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Tax Liability:
Turkmenistan residents are taxable on their 
worldwide income.

Non-residents are taxable on Turkmenistani source 
income.

Resident: companies either established in 
accordance with Turkmenistani law or with their 
place of management in Turkmenistan.

Non-resident: companies neither established nor 
managed in Turkmenistan.

Taxable Entities:
Joint stock companies, limited liability companies, 
cooperatives, individual's enterprises, state 
enterprises.

Partnerships are tax transparent.

Corporate Tax Rates:
8% for all enterprises other than:

(a) state companies, companies exploring and 
extracting hydrocarbon resources under the 
Law on Hydrocarbon Resources and branches 
of foreign legal entities – 20%;

(b) for private legal entities – 2%.

Any special tax 

regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

There is a special regime around the taxation of 
hydrocarbon resources.  Broadly, the system limits 
the taxes to which contractors are subject to 
corporate income tax and subsoil-use payments
comprising royalties and a 'one-time bonus'.  
Contractors are also able to carry forward losses up 
to 10 years from the start of commercial extraction 
and the tax payable by a contractor is capped at the 
level in force when the relevant contract was 
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entered into.  

Subcontractors are subject to mineral tax at the rate 
of 22% for natural gas and 10% for crude oil.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 
Companies:

Dividends:  15%

Royalties:  0%

Interest:  0%

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  15%.

Royalties:  15%.

Interest:  15%.

Income from the alienation of immovable property, 
income from shares or securities issued by 
Turkmenistani resident companies, rental and 
leasing income from movable or immovable property 
used in Turkmenistan: 15%.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 
and capital double 

taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Business and capital losses may be carried forward 
for three years.

See also mining/oil and gas above.

Employment Taxes:
No payroll tax.

Employers' social security contributions at rates of 
7% (for lawyers), 10% (for certain state companies) 
and 20% for all other companies calculated off gross 
salary, wages and other payments of employees.



The New Silk Road Guide to Corporate Tax Essentials

Page 107

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
Standard rate of 15%.  

Transfer Taxes:
No.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
1% tax on worldwide property (fixed assets and 
inventory) of resident legal entities and immovable 
property located in Turkmenistan belonging to non-
resident legal entities.

Quarterly advertising levy on the expenses of 
commercial advertising at rates of 3% to 5%.

Are there any 
local/municipal 

taxes?

Annual public utility levy of 1% of taxable income to 
be paid by all companies.

General Anti-

Avoidance Rule?
Yes.

Transfer pricing challenges may also be made to 
transactions between related parties, barter 
transactions or foreign trade transactions or where 
there are reasonable grounds to assume that the 
price deviates from the market price by more than 
20%.

Participation 
Exemption?

No.

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

No.

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 

doing business with 
foreign companies:

Customs duties are charged on imported goods and 
some exported goods.

Details of the local tax 

authority/authorising 
revenue collection 
agency:

Turkmenistan Main State Tax Service.

Useful websites:
http://www.minfin.gov.tm/

http://www.tax.gov.tm/
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This includes Abu Dhabi, Dubai, Sharjah, Ajman, Umm Al Quwain, Ras Al Khaimah 
and Fujairah.

Tax Liability:
Whilst each Emirate sets its own tax and each of Abu 
Dhabi, Ajman, Dubai, Fujairah and Sharjah have 
their own tax decree, the regimes are similar.  The 
following is therefore a general approach to the tax 
regimes of the UAE.

Territorial on an Emirate by Emirate basis – an entity 
(local or foreign) is taxable on its UAE sourced 
income generated from carrying on a trade or 
business in the UAE.  

In Fujairah, only persons extracting, producing or 
selling petroleum or other certain natural resources 
are taxable.

Taxable Entities:
Bodies corporate including partnerships.

Corporate Tax Rates:
In practice tax is only levied on oil and gas 
production and exploration companies, branches of 
foreign banks and certain petrochemical companies 
under specific government concession agreements.

Oil and gas production and exploration companies: in 
practice set by government concession agreements 
between the company and the Emirate; progressive 
or flat rates up to 55%. 

Branches of foreign banks: Rate agreed with ruler of 
Emirate. Generally 20%.  

The UAE has several trade zones with renewable 50 
year tax holidays and certain licensed industrial  
Projects may also benefit from tax exemptions.

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 

Yes. See above.
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and gas?

Withholding taxes:

Payments to Resident 
Companies:

None.

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

None.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 
and capital double 

taxation treaties?

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.

Group Treatment:
No.  

Losses:
Generally net operating losses can be carried forward 
indefinitely, although Abu Dhabi restricts carry-
forward loss-relief to one year and only allows a 
carry-forward to be made once in every five years.

Dubai has bespoke rules in relation to taxpayers 
dealing in the goods of producers who are not subject 
to income taxation in Dubai.

Branches of foreign banks can only carry forward 
losses for two years in Dubai.  

Employment Taxes:
No payroll tax.

No social security taxes on non-national employees.

Employer social security contributions for national 
employees are 12.5% of the "contribution calculation 
salary" and national employee contributions are 5% 
of the "contribution calculation salary".

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
No.  However, the UAE are discussing the 
introduction of VAT.

5% tariff on imports from outside the Gulf 
Cooperation Council ("GCC"). (subject to free trade 
agreements).
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Transfer Taxes:
Transfers of real property attract a transfer charge.  
The rate varies depending upon the local jurisdiction.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Land registration fee on property purchases and 
nominal taxes on certain legal documents.

Are there any 

local/municipal 
taxes?

Whilst Zakat is not officially levied, it is expected that 
payment of Zakat by Islamic banks and companies 
will become compulsory.

Annual rental income is taxed at 5% for residential 
property and 5-10% for commercial property.

General Anti-
Avoidance Rule?

No.

Participation 
Exemption?

No.

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

No.

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 

foreign companies:

Generally foreigners may only own up to 49% of a 
UAE-registered company, unless the company is set 
up in a free trade zone.

Details of the local 

tax 
authority/authorising 
revenue collection 

agency:

Ministry of Economic Affairs or Ministry of Finance in 
the relevant Emirate or the relevant free trade zone 
authority where an entity is operating.

Useful websites:
http://www.uaeim.ae/the-legal-framework

http://www.mof.gov.ae/En/
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Tax Liability:
Ukrainian residents are taxable on their worldwide 
income.

Non-residents are taxable on Ukrainian source 
income.

Resident: legal entities (and their separate divisions 
i.e. branches) which have been established under 
Ukrainian law, whether they are located in or outside 
of the Ukraine.

Non-resident legal entities established and operating 
under the laws of a foreign country.

Taxable Entities:
Legal entities including joint-stock companies, limited 
liability companies, state enterprises and simple 
partnerships.  Branches are separate tax payers but 
may be considered with their company.

Corporate Tax Rates:
19% (reducing to 16% from 2014).  

Special regimes operate for certain business 
activities, e.g. income from the sales of energy saving 
equipment and for banks and insurance companies 
and insurance companies are taxed at a reduced rate.

Small entities may be subject to a unified tax regime.

10% rate on disposal of certain securities.

Corporates with annual income of USD 375k or below 
and where the average salary paid is no less than two 
minimum salaries, are exempt.

Any special tax 
regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

Production of methane out of coal mines is exempt.
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Withholding taxes:

Payments to 
Resident Companies:

None.

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends: 15%.

Royalties: 15%.

Interest: 15%.

Technical service fees: 15%.

15% on lease payments, income from sales of real 
property situated in Ukraine, capital gains from 
trading in securities and corporate rights, engineering 
fees, agent’s commissions, payments made to non-
resident charitable organizations, income from joint 
activities, income from long-term contracts, income 
from cultural, educational, sports and entertainment 
activities and other income from a non-resident’s 
business activities in the Ukrainian territory (except 
for income from the sale of goods, services or works, 
other than those mentioned above) on payments to 
non-residents.

Fees for international freight paid to a non-resident
without a permanent establishment: 6%.

Gains from zero-coupon bonds and treasury receipts:  
19%.

Insurance or reinsurance fees (in certain 
circumstances):  4% or 12%.

Advertising fees for services provided outside 
Ukraine:  20%.

The tax authorities may require a payment of 15% on 
the repatriation of after-tax branch profits in the 
absence of a treaty between the Ukraine and the 
country of the head office of the branch.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 

and capital double 

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.
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taxation treaties?

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
In principle losses may be carried forward 
indefinitely.  In practice it appears that this rule is 
frequently restricted.  

There are bespoke rules around the use of losses 
accumulated as of 1 January 2012.

Generally capital losses are treated as ordinary 
losses.  However, losses from sales of listed securities 
may only be set off against gains from the sale of 
listed securities (and in a like manner, losses from 
sales of non-listed securities may only be set against 
gains from non-listed securities.  Losses from sales of 
non-listed securities may only be carried forward for 
three years.

No carry back of losses is permitted.

Employment Taxes:
No payroll tax.

Employer's social security contribution: 36.76% -
49.7% for domestic employees depending on the tax 
payer's risk category.

Employee's social security contribution: 2.6% or 
3.6%.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
Standard rate:  20% (reducing to 17% from 1 
January 2014).

Transfer Taxes:
State duty at 1% is triggered on the transfer of 
immovable property and at 5% on the transfer of 
vehicles.  Mandatory pension fund contributions are 
also triggered on transfer of immovable property and 
vehicles at 1% and 3% respectively. 

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Tax on all legal entities holding residential real estate.

Notary duty and possibly a notary fee on transfers of 
immovable property, vehicles and on notary deeds.
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Special excise tax on disposal of securities and 
transactions with derivatives.

Are there any 
local/municipal 

taxes?

Residential property tax at 1% or 2.7% of the 
minimum salary (per m2) for Ukranian situs real 
estate.  This is a national tax which is paid locally and 
local authorities may grant tax relief. 

Land tax of up to 1% of the assessed value of 
Ukrainian situs land, depending upon the location of 
the land and how it is used.

General Anti-
Avoidance Rule?

No, although there is a general form-over-substance 
approach. 

A "business purpose" doctrine has been introduced 
which allows the tax authorities to disregard 
transactions that have no purpose other than the 
avoidance of tax.

General transfer pricing rules are in force in relation 
to transactions between related parties or 
transactions with a non-resident.

Anti-tax haven rules restrict deductibility of payments 
to 85% if made to residents in a list of 36 'tax 
havens'.

There are also restrictions around the deductibility of 
certain expenses.

Participation 
Exemption?

Yes.  Dividends received by a resident company from 
another resident company are exempt from corporate 
income tax and dividends received by a resident from 
a non-resident controlled company are exempt 
provided that the non-resident company is not 
established in a tax haven.  Control is deemed to be 
exercised where the resident holds directly or 
indirectly 20% of the authorised capital or if it has 
significant influence over the activities of the entity.  

Thin Capitalisation 

Rules?
No, but deductions for interest payments on loans 
from non-residents holding 50% or more of a 
resident entity's capital may be limited.  The 
disallowed interest expense may be carried forward 
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indefinitely.

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 
doing business with 
foreign companies:

No.  However, a Ukrainian resident must obtain a 
license to invest abroad.

Details of the local 
tax 

authority/authorisin
g revenue collection 
agency:

State Tax Administration of Ukraine.

Useful websites:
http://sts.gov.ua/en/
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Tax Liability:
Uzbekistan residents are taxable on their worldwide 
income.

Non-residents are taxable on income from Uzbek 
services.

Resident: state registered in Uzbekistan (this is a 
procedure which must be passed/completed).

Non-resident: any company other than one which is 
state registered.

Taxable Entities:
All legal entities that are resident including general 
and limited partnerships.  However, simple 
partnerships and silent partnerships are tax 
transparent.

Corporate Tax Rates:
Generally profit-tax is levied at 9%.

Commercial banks:  15%.

Entertainment companies:  30%.

There is a unified tax regime to enable micro-firms 
and small businesses to make a unified tax payment 
in place of all national and local taxes.

Any special tax 

regime re mining/oil 
and gas?

Subsurface use tax is charged on the volume of 
natural resources extracted and ready for sale, 
transfer or consumption internally at the following 
rates: 

natural gas: 30%; 

precious stones: 24%; 

oil: 20%;
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gold: 5%;

silver: 8%; and

utilisation of by-products: 30% of tax rate for main 
natural resources.

Excess profits tax is levied on the difference between 
the statutory price and selling price.  It applies to 
legal entities producing: copper, cement, 
polyethylene granules, clinker and natural gas.

Signing and commercial discovery bonuses are one 
off payments: (i) signing bonus is paid for the right to 
engage in the exploration for and extraction of 
natural resources and (ii) commercial discovery 
bonus is paid for each field where natural resources 
are discovered.

Withholding taxes:

Payments to 
Resident Companies:

None.

Payments to Non-
Resident Companies:

Dividends:  10%.

Royalties:  20%.

Interest:  10%.

Rent:  20%.

Insurance reinsurance and co-insurance premiums:  
10%.

Payment for telecommunications services and freight 
activities:  6%.

Remittances from a branch to its head office:  10%.

Other amounts paid from Uzbek sources to non-
residents which don't have an Uzbek permanent 
establishment – 20%.

Is the jurisdiction 
party to any income 

Yes.  More than 25 treaties are in force.
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and capital double 
taxation treaties?

Group Treatment:
No.

Losses:
Income losses may be carried forward for five years.  
The amount available for offset is limited to 50% of 
taxable income for the current tax period.

Losses from the sale of fixed assets used for more 
than three years are deductible.

Capital losses may be set off against general business 
profits provided that the loss generating asset has 
been used for at least three years.

Employment Taxes:
Employers must make a unified social contribution of 
25% of the employee's salary (both national and 
foreign).

Employer must also contribute 1.6% of gross revenue 
to the pension fund.

VAT/Turnover Taxes:
Standard rate:  20%.

Transfer Taxes:
No.

Miscellaneous Taxes:
Customs duties ranging from 0% - 40% on certain 
imported goods from certain countries, plus a 
customs clearance fee of 0.2%.

Real estate outside Uzbekistan which is owned by a 
Uzbek resident company may be subject to Uzbek 
tax.

Excise duties on the production, import and 
exportation of certain products.  There is a list of 
excise rates.

1.6% of turnover to pension fund.

1.4% of turnover to road fund.

0.5% of turnover for education and medical 
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infrastructure development.

Water tax payable by people using water in the 
business.

Stamp duty on state registration of legal entities, 
claims submitted to courts, notarial actions and 
certain licences.

Are there any 

local/municipal 
taxes?

Net worth tax is a property tax imposed on resident 
legal entities owning property and on non-residents 
owning fixed assets or real estate depending upon 
whether they have a permanent establishment in 
Uzbekistan (other than land).  Generally 3.5%, 
although this may be decreased if the entity is an 
exporter.

Land tax is imposed on certain land attached to 
buildings owned by legal entities which is used for 
carrying on business, forestry, agricultural or 
construction activities.  The land tax rate is 
determined by the government and depends upon the 
location, use and quality of the land.

Local infrastructure development tax at a maximum 
rate of 8% on income after tax.

General Anti-

Avoidance Rule?
No.  However, the tax authorities may apply a market 
rate transfer pricing rule in related party transactions 
both nationally and cross-border.

Participation 
Exemption?

None.  However, dividends paid out of profits that 
have been subject to Uzbekistan tax are exempt from 
profit tax in the hands of residents and non-residents 
with a permanent establishment in Uzbekistan. 

Thin Capitalisation 
Rules?

No.

CFC Legislation?
No.

Specific rules for 

doing business with 
foreign companies:

Foreign entities must register with the Ministry of 
Justice if capital of Uzbekistan subsidiary exceeds 
USD 100,000 and the share of the foreign parent is 
equal to or exceeds 30%.
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Note: Branches of foreign companies are not 
commonly used because branches are independent
legal entities under domestic law.

Details of the local 
tax authority/

authorising revenue 
collection agency:

State Tax Committee.
State Customs Committee.
Ministry of Finance.

Useful websites:
www.inf.uz/en
www.customs.uz
www.soliq.uz






